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Kruger Products is Canada’s leading manufacturer of quality 
tissue products for household, industrial and commercial use. 
Kruger Products serves the Canadian consumer market with 
such well-known brands as  Cashmere®, Bonterra®, Purex®, 
SpongeTowels® and Scotties®’ and White Swan®. In the U.S., 
Kruger Products manufactures the White Cloud® brand, as well 
as many private label products. The Away-From-Home division 
manufactures and distributes high-quality, cost-effective product 
solutions to a wide range of commercial and public entities. 
Kruger Products has approximately 2,800 employees and 
operates ten FSC® COC-certified (FSC® C-104904) production 
facilities in North America.

KPT (the Corporation) holds an equity interest in Kruger Products. 
KPT is a reporting issuer in all provinces and territories of Canada, 
and is required under Canadian Securities laws to report certain 
financial and business information of Kruger Products.

On January 1, 2023, Kruger Products L.P. (KPLP) undertook 
a corporate reorganization pursuant to which the limited 
partnership was essentially replaced by a corporate entity, Kruger 
Products Inc. (Kruger Products), without adversely affecting KP 
Tissue (KPT). KPT held a minority interest in Kruger Products of 
13.1% as at December 31, 2023 and 12.9% as at May 13, 2024.

© 2024 KP Tissue ®Registered and ™trademarks of Kruger Products Inc. ®’Registered trademark of Kimberly-Clark Worldwide, Inc. used under license. ®Forest Stewardship Council 
and FSC logo—Forest Stewardship Council, A.C

Forward looking information: For any information on statements in this Annual Report that are of a forward-looking nature, please consult the section on “Cautionary Forward-
Looking Statements” in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of results of operations and financial position. 

2,800
EMPLOYEES

10
PRODUCTION 

FACILITIES

13
PAPER MACHINES

72
CONVERTING  

LINES
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(1)	 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. This measure does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and, therefore, may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures presented by other companies. Refer to the MD&A for the definition and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA.

FY 2023 REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHY

43%
U.S.A.

57%
Canada

FY 2023 REVENUE BY SEGMENT

17%
Away-From-
Home

83%
Consumer

FISCAL 2023
CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

RECORD REVENUE OF $1.9 BILLION 
AN INCREASE OF 11.4% FROM 2022
 
Revenue increased year-over-year on the strength of higher sales volume, positive 
effect of selling price increases implemented during 2022, and a favourable foreign 
exchange impact on US dollar sales.

RECORD ADJUSTED EBITDA(1) OF $238.6 MILLION 
AN IMPROVEMENT OF 105.7% FROM 2022
 
Adjusted EBITDA improved for the same reasons as revenue growth, along with 
lower pulp prices and reduced freight expenses. These factors were partially offset 
by higher other input cost inflation, increased manufacturing overhead, and higher 
SG&A expenses compared to the prior year.

NET LOSS OF $5.3 MILLION 
A DECREASE IN THE LOSS OF $51.6 MILLION COMPARED TO 2022
 
The decrease in the loss was primarily due to higher Adjusted EBITDA, lower 
foreign exchange loss, reduced interest expense, less consulting fees, reduced 
restructuring costs, and lower depreciation and amortization expenses. These 
factors were partially offset by a higher income tax expense, the change in the 
amortized cost of Partnership units liability, a loss on the sale of fixed assets, and 
a loss from a non-controlling interest resulting from the parent company, Kruger 
Inc., assuming monthly redemption payments under the KPSI IQ Debenture in 
Fiscal 2023.
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(1)	 All financial data presented herein are related to Kruger Products unless otherwise noted and have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. For the year ended December 31, 2023,  
	 KPT reported an equity loss of $1.9 million, net loss of $4.9 million and net loss per share of $0.50. For more information, refer to the KPT Audited Financial Statements for the  
	 period ended December 31, 2023.

(2)	 Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are non-GAAP financial measures. These measures do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not  
	 be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. Refer to the MD&A for the definition and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA.

* Including Mexico business divested in September 2019.

	 For the years ended December 31	 2023	 2022	 2021	 2020	 2019

	 Net income (loss)	 (5.3)	 (56.9)	 42.0	 27.3	 2.1

	 Working capital	 45.7	 116.4	 146.4	 53.7	 97.3

	 Long-term debt	 1,033.5	 1,077.3	 920.3	 744.0	 586.1

	 Net debt/LTM adjusted EBITDA(2)	 3.9x	 8.9x	 5.3x	 3.2x	 3.4x

(In millions of Canadian dollars)

FINANCIAL

REVENUE* (1)

(in millions of Canadian dollars)

19

1,434.1

20

1,516.0

21

1,465.2

22

1,681.4

23

1,873.0

ADJUSTED EBITDA(2),
ADJUSTED EBITDA MARGIN(2)

(in millions of Canadian dollars, %)

19

145.0

20

197.8

21

153.4

22

116.0

23

238.6

12.7%

6.9%

13.0%

10.1% 10.5%

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

19

175.0

20

310.6

21

146.6

22

115.6

23

185.4

OPERATING INCOME
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

19

75.6

20

113.3

21

66.6

22

4.9

23

132.6

PERFORMANCE(1)
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Market-driven innovation, combined with a strong brand equity and effective go-to market strategy, has delivered 
sustained share gains over the years.

BATHROOM TISSUE FACIAL TISSUE PAPER TOWEL

32.9% 24.6%40.3%

NO. 1 NO. 2NO. 1

+0.6 percentage points 
from last year (1)

+0.7 percentage points 
from last year (1)

+4.7 percentage points 
from last year (1)

Our Cashmere and Purex brands 
gained incremental share in the highly 
competitive Canadian bathroom  
tissue market.

SpongeTowels made significant 
market share gains at the expense of 
competitors.

Scotties further consolidated its 
leadership position in the marketplace 
following the exit of a competitor.

(1)	 Source: Nielsen Canadian dollar market share for the 52-week period ended March 23, 2024.

MARKET SHARE
GROWTH
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Fiscal 2023 proved to be a record year in terms of revenue and profitability. We intend to build on this solid 
foundation by focusing on four fundamental priorities to drive profitable growth in 2024.

FOUR FUNDAMENTAL
PRIORITIES FOR 2024

 MANAGE
OUR MARGINS AMID 

RISING COSTS

1

 GROW
OUR FACIAL TISSUE 

POSITION

3

 IMPLEMENT
START-UP OF OUR SHERBROOKE

EXPANSION PROJECT

4

 INVEST
IN OUR BRANDS

2
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In our Consumer segment, we gained market share within the 
facial tissue and paper towel categories during the past year, while 
improving our share trend on bathroom tissue. We also stepped 
up to support and supply Scotties facial tissue to consumers and 
customers following the exit of a competitor from the Canadian 
grocery market. Our Away-From-Home business, meanwhile, 
continued to deliver sustained results with another strong year of 
profitability. 

Consolidated revenue improved 11.4% year-over-year to $1.9 billion 
in 2023 on the strength of higher sales volume, the positive effect 
of selling price increases implemented during 2022, and a favorable 
foreign exchange impact on US dollar sales. 

Adjusted EBITDA(1) more than doubled to $238.6 million largely for 
the same reasons as revenue growth, along with lower pulp prices 
and reduced freight expenses. These factors were partially offset by  
other input cost inflation, increased manufacturing overhead, and 
higher SG&A expenses compared to the prior year. 

Dino Bianco, Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholders,

We are pleased with our financial results in fiscal 2023, 
highlighted by record sales and record Adjusted EBITDA(1) 
that were driven by several positive factors. Our business 
benefited from robust sales volume, positive margin 
management amid continued volatile costs, and strong 
operational efficiency across our network.

(1)	 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. This measure does not have a  
	 standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and, therefore, may not be comparable  
	 to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. Refer to the MD&A for  
	 the definition and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA.

MESSAGE
TO SHAREHOLDERS
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INCREASED FACIAL MANUFACTURING CAPACITY
After the withdrawal of a competitor from Canada, we quickly 
responded to fulfill consumer demand and consolidate our position 
as the leading supplier of facial tissue in the country by providing 
added innovation and expanding our distribution. 

We delivered Scotties facial tissues in different formats, sizes, and 
quality types to meet the diverse needs of consumers. We also 
expanded facial distribution with new customers in the US to serve 
that market. At year-end, Scotties had made significant gains by 
achieving a 38.9% share of total facial tissue sales in Canada, 
according to Nielsen’s 52-week numbers ended December 30, 
2023. This share level further rose to 40.3% for the 52-week period 
ended March 23, 2024. 

To meet increased demand for facial tissue, we added manufacturing 
capacity. A new facial line within our Sherbrooke Expansion Project 
has been running since February 2024 and we recently acquired 
a new facial line for our Gatineau facility, which will raise capacity 
by 25% at this site. This new Gatineau line required an additional 
$14.5 million investment that will deliver much needed supply for 
us to grow in the North American facial tissue market.

NETWORK OPERATIONS
In terms of our Sherbrooke Operations and Expansion Project, TAD 
manufacturing exceeded the ramp-up curve for the year. The start-
up of our new bathroom tissue line in the first quarter of 2023 also 
surpassed expectations, while our facial tissue line launched in the 
first quarter of 2024 and our paper machine rollout is scheduled 
for Q4 2024. Extra capacity from these assets will help us meet 
heightened demand. Due to supply-chain inflation and higher 
expenses, we anticipate a capital cost increase of $26 million to 
$378 million for the Sherbrooke Expansion Project.                  

At Memphis, we are encouraged by progress made across our 
TAD manufacturing operations. Paper production efficiency has 
stabilized and we expect performance to continue improving. 
In terms of converting, we are riding a longer learning curve, 
but investments are being made in maintenance and technical 
leadership to upgrade performance. The deployment of digital twin 
and AI tools has been successful on the new facial line, and we 
are expanding this capability across our TAD converting assets in 
Memphis as well. 

Finally, we are relaunching our Operational Excellence program at 
this site while leveraging best practices from both Sherbrooke and 

Memphis. Following these initiatives, we should see progressive 
improvement in output throughout 2024. 

BRAND SUPPORT
Aligned with increased consumer demand in 2023, we 
intensified marketing efforts to drive brand share in a highly 
competitive environment. Multi-brand activities continued with 
our Unapologetically Human, “Love is Messy” campaign and we 
unveiled the fourth year of the successful Kruger Big Assist program 
for young hockey players across the country. 

We also celebrated Cashmere’s 20th anniversary collection in a 
fashion show entitled “Lovestruck” to kick off October’s Breast 
Cancer Awareness Month. The award-winning runway show featured 
original couture from 20 world-class Canadian designers, who were 
up to the challenge of creating garments with our luxuriously soft 
Cashmere bathroom tissue. A new addition this year was a behind-
the-scenes documentary available both on TV and online.

In terms of our Canadian brands, we increased media support on 
Scotties, Bonterra and UltraLuxe to drive awareness and purchase. 
We also maintained strong shopper marketing and activation 
behind sports partnerships, such as our entrenched relationship 
with the NHL. In the United States, strategic shopper investments 
behind White Cloud continued to drive trial and awareness across 
the portfolio. 

AWAY-FROM-HOME
Our Away-From-Home (AFH) segment maintained its upward 
trajectory in 2023 and continued to deliver against a sustainable 
profit model. Following another strong performance in Q1 2024, 
AFH has reported seven consecutive quarters of positive Adjusted 
EBITDA(1) due to the solid foundations we have put in place. 

Going forward, asset performance and the start up of our new paper 
machine will provide new growth opportunities for this business.

SUSTAINABILITY
Our sustainability plan—Reimagine 2030—has been built on the 
belief that we can grow our business while having a positive impact 
on the planet. This strategy consists of four pillars: Products 
Empower, Planet Conscious, Employee Impact and Community 
Embrace.

Our updated metrics for 2030 are outlined elsewhere in this Annual 
Report, but I wanted to highlight our continued efforts to become a 

(1)	 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. This measure does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and, therefore, may not be comparable to similarly  
	 titled measures presented by other companies. Refer to the MD&A for the definition and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA.
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more responsible corporate citizen. In 2023, Kruger Products was 
named one of Canada’s Best 50 Corporate Citizens by Corporate 
Knights for the sixth consecutive year. We were recognized with 
top-quartile scores on sustainable revenue, sustainable investment, 
diversity among executives, and pension fund quality. 

LOOKING AHEAD
We delivered unprecedented top-line growth and profitability 
in 2023 despite an ongoing uncertain economic environment. 
Equally important, we improved our operating capabilities following 
COVID and a high inflationary period, rendering our business more 
resilient to future volatility. 

Looking ahead to 2024, we plan to focus on four key priorities to 
sustain our growth momentum:

1.	 Manage our margins amid rising costs. Based on industry  
	 forecasts, and we’ve already witnessed this early into 2024, pulp  
	 prices are expected to rise over the course of the year.  
	 Accordingly, we will tightly manage margins to enhance  
	 profitability in the upcoming year.  

2.	Continue to invest in our brands. After a period of severe  
	 cost inflation, we intensified marketing efforts in 2023 which was  
	 reflected in share gains of 2.9 percentage points and 2.1  
	 percentage points in the facial tissue and paper towel categories,  
	 respectively. As for bathroom tissue, our share trend moved in  
	 the right direction in what is a highly competitive category.  
	 In 2024, we will maintain multi-brand marketing activities across  
	 Canada and the United States to secure additional share and  
	 drive long-term growth.

3.	Grow our facial tissue position. Facial tissue ranks among our  
	 primary growth opportunities for the upcoming year and we are  
	 increasing our Scotties’ brand investment, capitalizing on added  
	 capacity and product innovation. 

4.	Implement the successful start-up of our Sherbrooke  
	 Expansion Project. This project represents a key long-term  
	 catalyst for Kruger Products. The start-up of the bathroom tissue  
	 (February 2023) and facial tissue (February 2024) converting  
	 lines have been completed, while the LDC paper machine will  
	 be rolled out in the fourth quarter of 2024. At maturity, the  
	 paper machine will increase annual output by 60,000 metric  
	 tonnes. These new assets will allow us to fulfill expanding  
	 customer demand across the North American market.

CFO TRANSITION
I would like to take this opportunity to recognize retiring CFO Mark 
Holbrook for a successful 26-year career at Kruger Products and 
his many contributions to the industry over a distinguished 38-year 
period. Mark’s steadfast leadership and sound advice have been 
instrumental to the success of our organization and his guidance, 
objectivity and knowledge have been particularly critical for me as 
CEO over the past six years. Mark has agreed to remain as Special 
Advisor reporting to me until the end of 2025.

A seamless transition has taken place with Michael Keys assuming 
the position of CFO in March 2024. Michael has been with Kruger 
Products since 2008 and has built his career in various progressive 
finance leadership roles across our businesses in Canada, U.S. and 
Mexico. We are confident that Michael will play a pivotal part in 
driving our financial objectives, fostering continued sustainable 
growth, and building the finance team’s capabilities. 

WRAP-UP
In closing, I would like to thank our employees for their hard work 
and dedication in returning our organization to profitable growth in 
2023. I would also like to extend thanks to consumers and customers 
alike for their loyalty to our company and brand. In addition, I want 
to thank the Kruger family and our Board of Directors for their 
counsel and support during the past year. 

Dino Bianco
Chief Executive Officer
KP Tissue Inc. and Kruger Products Inc.
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59%
TOTAL REVENUE

IN CANADA

41%
TOTAL REVENUE

IN THE U.S.

PAPERMAKING & CONVERTING

NEW WESTMINSTER, BC

Produce more than

of tissue products every year
67,000 MT

1 DEINKING, PULPING, PAPERMAKING & CONVERTING

CRABTREE, QC

Produce more than

of tissue products every year
92,000 MT

3

PAPERMAKING & CONVERTING

GATINEAU, QC*

Produce more than

of tissue products every year
97,000 MT

2 PAPERMAKING

LENNOXVILLE (SHERBROOKE), QC

Produce more than

of tissue products every year
24,000 MT

4
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OUR NETWORK
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Kruger Products’ manufacturing capabilities are unmatched in Canada with approximately 350,000 metric 
tonnes of tissue produced at our facilities on an annual basis. This represents 44%(1) of the country’s total 
production. In the United States, we generate 85,000 metric tonnes annually at our Memphis plant to 
deliver the highest level of quality tissue to branded and private label customers.

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

MISSISSAUGA, ON
6

CONVERTING

SCARBOROUGH, ON
7

CONVERTING

TRENTON, ON
8

PAPERMAKING & CONVERTING

MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

Produce more than

of tissue products every year
85,000 MT

9

PAPERMAKING & CONVERTING

TAD SHERBROOKE, QC

Production capacity to reach

of tissue products every year once fully operational
70,000 MT

5

(1)	 Based on RISI data.
*	 The Laurier facility (papermaking) and the Richelieu facility (converting).
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The Sherbrooke Expansion Project represents a major 
catalyst for long-term growth. A new bathroom tissue 
converting line successfully started up in the first quarter 
of 2023, followed by a facial tissue line in the initial quarter 
of 2024, while a light dry crepe (LDC) paper machine is 
scheduled to launch in the fourth quarter of 2024. At 
maturity, this paper machine should increase annual output 
by 60,000 metric tonnes. Extra capacity from these assets 
will help us meet heightened demand across North America.

Following the shutdown of legacy assets in early 2023, 
significant progress was achieved across our manufacturing 
operations mainly dedicated to high-quality facial tissue and 
premium through-air-dried (TAD) products. In terms of our 
converting lines, investments were made in maintenance and 
technical leadership to upgrade performance. Progressive 
improvement in output is expected for 2024.

Over the years, we have strived to balance long-term growth and sustained profitability. Network modernization 
falls into the class of strategic investments that will deliver growth down the road and, ultimately, generate 
higher earnings.

	 SHERBROOKE, QC 	 MEMPHIS, TN

NETWORK
MODERNIZATION UPDATE

2023 Annual Report10
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Corporate Knights’ Best 50 
Corporate Citizens in Canada 
for 6th consecutive year

Canada’s Best Managed  
Companies for 6th consecutive 
year, Gold Member 

Women In Governance,  
Bronze Level Parity Certification

Application sur fond foncé

Application usuelle

Application en renversé

Application monochrome

Canadian Grocer 3rd Annual 
Impact Awards, Community 
Service for Kruger Big Assist

Greater Toronto Area  
Top Employer for  
11th consecutive year 

These awards are dedicated to our 2,800 employees who strive to better serve our customers, suppliers and 
community on a daily basis. These accolades also point to the organization’s vision of being the most trusted and 
best loved tissue company in North America. Collectively, we aim to generate long-term profitable growth while 
raising our status as a responsible corporate citizen.

AWARDS
AND RECOGNITIONS

Best New Product Awards
Bonterra Paper Towel, BETTER-
FOR-THE-ENVIRONMENT 
PAPER TOWEL
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Kruger Products’ sustainability plan — Reimagine 2030 — 
has been designed with the firm conviction that we can 
grow our business while having a positive impact on the 
planet. This strategy, which builds upon the success of 
past programs, includes four pillars: Products Empower, 
Planet Conscious, Employee Impact and Community 
Embrace.

26% REDUCTION IN 
GHG EMISSIONS (2)

8% DECREASE IN VIRGIN PLASTICS 
PACKAGING IN BRANDED PRODUCTS (3)

31% REDUCTION OF WATER 
CONSUMPTION (2)

100% THIRD-PARTY CERTIFIED 
FIBERS

(1)	 Baseline years for GHG and water targets have been updated from 2009 to 2015. Target  
	 percentages have been recast from 25% to 35% for GHG reduction and from 50% to  
	 35% for water reduction to better align with industry peers.
(2)	 Intensity-based versus 2015 baseline.
(3)	 Intensity-based versus 2020 baseline.
(3)	 OSHA Total incidence Rate since 2015 Benchmark

•	 Reducing GHG emissions by 35%(2)

•	 Lowering water consumption by 35%(2)

•	 Reducing virgin plastic packaging in branded products by 50%(3)  

•	 Utilizing 100% third-party certified fibres in the manufacture of  
	 products

79% IMPROVEMENT IN EMPLOYEE 
HEALTH & SAFETY (4)

236 THIRD PARTY CERTIFIED 
PRODUCTS

   KEY TARGETS TO ACHIEVE BY 2030(1)

   PROGRESS MADE IN 2023
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The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) dated March 7, 2024 for KP Tissue Inc. (KPT) and 

Kruger Products Inc. (Kruger Products) is intended to assist the readers in understanding the business environment, 

strategies, performance and risk factors relating to KPT and Kruger Products. It should be read in conjunction with the 

financial statements of KPT for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, and the 

consolidated financial statements of Kruger Products for the years ended December 31, 2023 (Fiscal 2023) and December 

31, 2022 (Fiscal 2022), respectively.   

 

About KP Tissue Inc. 

 

KPT was created to acquire, and its business is limited to holding, an equity interest in Kruger Products, which is 

accounted for as an investment in an associate using the equity method of accounting. As of December 31, 2023, KPT held 

13.1% of the Kruger Products Class B Common Shares (the Kruger Products Common Shares). The following MD&A 

provides discussion and analysis related to KPT to the extent necessary to understand the equity method of accounting. 

However, the majority of the discussion and analysis relates to Kruger Products and to KPT’s investment in Kruger Products.  

 

On January 1, 2023, Kruger Products L.P. (KPLP) undertook a corporate reorganization (the Reorganization) pursuant 

to which KPLP sold and assigned to its wholly-owned subsidiary, Kruger Products, and Kruger Products purchased and 

assumed from KPLP, in exchange for common shares, all of the properties, operations, assets and liabilities of KPLP, and 

KPLP was subsequently dissolved and wound-up into its partners. As a result of the Reorganization, Kruger Products, as the 

successor corporate entity to KPLP, now operates the business previously operated by KPLP. Unless the context otherwise 

requires, references herein to “KPLP” are references to Kruger Products Inc. for the period following the Reorganization. 

Refer to Business Highlights, Corporate Reorganization for additional details. 

 

CAUTIONARY FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT 

 

Certain statements in this MD&A about KPT's and Kruger Products’ current and future plans, expectations and 

intentions, results, levels of activity, performance, goals or achievements or any other future events or developments 

constitute forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but are not limited to, statements 

regarding the projected capacity of the Sherbrooke Expansion Project (as defined below), the anticipated benefits of the 

Sherbrooke Expansion Project and the expected cost and dates for commencement of production of the Sherbrooke 

Expansion Project; Kruger Products’ expansion efforts in U.S. premium private label; and Kruger Products’ future business 

strategy and the anticipated benefits of its business strategy. The words "may", "will", "would", "should", "could", "expects", 

"plans", "intends", "trends", "indications", "anticipates", "believes", "estimates", "predicts", "likely" or "potential" or the 

negative or other variations of these words or other comparable words or phrases, are intended to identify forward-looking 

statements. The forward-looking statements are based on certain key expectations and assumptions made by KPT or Kruger 

Products. Although KPT and Kruger Products believe that the expectations and assumptions on which such forward-looking 

information is based are reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed on the forward-looking statements since no 

assurance can be given that such expectations and assumptions will prove to be correct. 

 

Many factors could cause Kruger Products’ actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements or future 

events or developments (which could in turn affect the economic benefits derived from KPT’s economic interest in Kruger 

Products) to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including, without 

limitation, the following factors, which are discussed in greater detail in the “Risk Factors – Risks Related to Kruger 

Products’ Business” section of the KPT Annual Information Form dated March 7, 2024 available on SEDAR+ at 

www.sedarplus.ca (the Annual Information Form): Kruger Inc.’s influence over Kruger Products; Kruger Products’ reliance 

on Kruger Inc.; consequences of an event of insolvency relating to Kruger Inc.; risks associated with the ownership of the 

TAD Sherbrooke Project; risks associated with the operation of the TAD Sherbrooke Project; risks associated with the 

Sherbrooke Expansion Project; operational risks; significant increases in input costs; reduction in supply of fibre; increased 

pricing pressure and intense competition; Kruger Products’ inability to innovate effectively; adverse economic conditions; 

dependence on key retail trade customers; damage to the reputation of Kruger Products or Kruger Products’ brands; Kruger 

Products’ sales being less than anticipated; Kruger Products’ failure to implement its business and operating strategies; 

Kruger Products’ obligation to make regular capital expenditures; Kruger Products entering into unsuccessful acquisitions; 

Kruger Products’ dependence on key personnel; Kruger Products’ inability to retain its existing customers or obtain new 

customers; Kruger Products’ loss of key suppliers; Kruger Products’ failure to adequately protect its intellectual property 

rights; Kruger Products’ reliance on third party intellectual property licenses; adverse litigation and other claims affecting 

Kruger Products; material expenditures due to comprehensive environmental regulation affecting Kruger Products’ cash 

http://www.sedarplus.c/


 

2 

 

flow; Kruger Products’ pension obligations are significant and can be materially higher than predicted if Kruger Products 

Management’s underlying assumptions are incorrect; labour disputes adversely affecting Kruger Products’ cost structure 

and Kruger Products’ ability to run its plants; exchange rate and U.S. competitors; Kruger Products’ inability to service all 

of its indebtedness; exposure to potential consumer product liability; covenant  compliance; interest rate and refinancing 

risk; information technology; cyber-security; insurance; internal controls; trade related. 

 

These factors are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect KPT and/or Kruger Products; 

however, these factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking 

statements made herein or in the documents reproduced herein. KPT and Kruger Products cannot guarantee future results, 

levels of activity, performance, or achievements. Moreover, KPT and Kruger Products do not assume responsibility for the 

accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. KPT and/or Kruger Products’ actual results, performance or 

achievements could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements and, 

accordingly, no assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will transpire 

or occur, or if any of them do so, what benefits that KPT and/or Kruger Products will derive therefrom. 

 

To the extent any forward-looking information in this MD&A constitutes future-oriented financial information or 

financial outlooks within the meaning of securities laws, such information is being provided to demonstrate the potential 

benefits and readers are cautioned that this information may not be appropriate for any other purpose. Future-oriented 

financial information and financial outlooks are, without limitation, based on the assumptions and subject to the risks set out 

above. 

 

The forward-looking information contained herein is made as of the date of this MD&A and KPT and Kruger Products 

disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 

information, future events or otherwise, unless required by applicable law. 

 

OVERVIEW 

Business Overview 

 

Kruger Products is Canada’s leading tissue products supplier by overall dollar and volume market share. It produces, 

distributes, markets and sells a wide range of disposable tissue products, including bathroom tissue, facial tissue, paper 

towels and napkins, for both the Consumer and the Away-From-Home (AFH) markets (in each case, as defined below). 

While its principal focus is on the Canadian consumer-branded tissue products market, Kruger Products is also a leader in 

the Canadian AFH market and has a considerable presence in the U.S. private label tissue market. The Consumer segment 

consists of well recognized brands such as Cashmere, Purex, Scotties, SpongeTowels and Bonterra in Canada and White 

Cloud in the United States.  

 

Kruger Products is headquartered in Mississauga, Ontario and has approximately 2,800 employees across Canada and 

the United States. Kruger Products’ Canadian paper manufacturing facilities, consisting of four tissue plants in Québec and 

one plant in British Columbia, have a combined annual tissue production capacity of approximately 350,000 metric tonnes.  

In the U.S., Kruger Products operates a manufacturing facility in Memphis, Tennessee held in its wholly owned subsidiary 

K.T.G. (USA) Inc. (KTG), which currently has an aggregate production capacity of 85,000 metric tonnes. 

 

Pursuant to its Articles, KPT’s business is limited to (i) the investment in, holding of and disposition of limited 

partnership interests, units, shares or other securities of Kruger Products, (ii) the acquisition of, holding, operation and 

disposition of any assets, liabilities, operations or business of such entities, and (iii) all activities related, incidental or 

ancillary to any of the foregoing.  

 

As of the date of the MD&A and following the Reorganization and participation by Kruger Products’ shareholders in 

the Kruger Products DRIP on January 15, 2024, KPT held 12.9% of the Kruger Products Common Shares. Refer to Business 

Highlights, Corporate Reorganization for additional details. 
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Basis of Presentation 

 

The consolidated financial statements of Kruger Products presented for Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022 and the financial 

statements of KPT presented for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, have each been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IFRS Accounting Standards). 

 

Accounting Periods 

 

This MD&A includes financial information for the 3-month periods ended December 31, 2023 (Q4 2023) and 

December 31, 2022 (Q4 2022), respectively, and Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022.  

 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures  

This MD&A refers to “Adjusted EBITDA”, a measure which does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by 

GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. Kruger Products 

believes that this measure provides useful information to management of Kruger Products and the readers of the financial 

information in measuring the financial performance and financial condition of Kruger Products. 

 

“Adjusted EBITDA” is calculated by Kruger Products as net income (loss) before (i) interest expense and other finance 

costs, (ii) income taxes, (iii) depreciation, (iv) amortization, (v) loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, (vi) 

foreign exchange loss (gain), (vii) costs related to restructuring activities, (viii) changes in amortized cost of Partnership 

units liability, (ix) consulting costs related to operational transformation initiatives and (x) corporate development related 

costs. We use “Adjusted EBITDA” to evaluate the performance of our business as it reflects its ongoing profitability. This 

MD&A contains a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss), the most comparable GAAP measure, on page 

7. 

 

Outlook 

 

Kruger Products is committed to building its consumer brands and developing innovative products for its retail and 

commercial customers. Kruger Products’ strategy is to maintain its leadership position in the Canadian market. Though the 

Canadian tissue market is expected to remain competitive, Kruger Products believes that its brands and products are well 

positioned for continued growth. Kruger Products will aim to sustain its consumer and AFH leadership position in the 

Canadian tissue industry by driving marketing and sales excellence, extending product lines, continuing to leverage product 

development and manufacturing technology to drive product superiority and cost savings, and emphasizing manufacturing 

quality and efficiency.  

 

Kruger Products also expects to continue to grow by leveraging its Through Air Dry (TAD) product capabilities in 

Canada and the United States and focusing on the high-end private label business in the U.S. market. Kruger Products’ U.S. 

strategy also includes the expansion of the White Cloud brand to additional U.S. retailers. 

 

Refer to Business Highlights, Sherbrooke Expansion Project for additional details. 

 

Factors Affecting the Results of Operations  

 
Revenue  

 

Kruger Products generates revenue on the sale of branded, private label and AFH tissue products in Canada and the 

United States. Revenue is reported on a net basis, after deducting rebates and allowances. Kruger Products’ revenue is 

impacted by advertising, discounts and promotions, merchandising, packaging, the availability of shelf and display space at 

retail customers, the timing of new product launches and line extensions and competitive pricing, all of which have a 

significant impact on consumer buying decisions. Continued growth of our revenue will depend substantially on the 

continued strength of our brands, retail support and our ability to effectively maintain sufficient product supply to meet 

customer demand. 
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Kruger Products has two reportable business segments: (i) consumer products sold through traditional retail channels 

such as grocery stores, mass merchandisers, club stores, drug stores and convenience stores (Consumer) and (ii) AFH. The 

Consumer segment includes sales of branded tissue products such as Cashmere, Purex, Scotties, SpongeTowels, Bonterra 

and White Cloud. AFH sells commercial tissue products primarily through distributors to businesses involved in property 

management, health care, food service, manufacturing and lodging, and to other public facilities. Certain management 

overhead costs not directly attributable to the business segments are reported as Corporate and other costs. 

 

Kruger Products’ current sales focus includes all regions of Canada and the United States. Kruger Products is partially 

exposed to fluctuations in the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar, as sales made to U.S. customers are made in U.S. 

dollars. To manage this foreign exchange risk, Kruger Products may enter into foreign exchange swaps and foreign exchange 

forwards.  

 

Cost of Sales  

Cost of sales includes fixed and variable costs to manufacture Kruger Products’ products, freight, and warehousing and 

handling costs. Input costs associated with the manufacturing of tissue paper are primarily variable.  Fibre, labour, and 

energy costs are the largest components, representing 50% to 80% of total cost of sales, depending on the type of fibre and 

paper making technology being used. Pulp is a world-wide commodity. Though underlying pulp costs can fluctuate based 

on worldwide shifts in supply and demand, there has historically been an ability to pass along fluctuations to end customers 

and consumers. However, the ability to pass through the full amount of pulp cost increases may be affected by the 

competitive market situation at the time of the fluctuation. Kruger Products has historically entered into fibre commodity 

contracts to reduce exposure to fluctuations in this key input cost and may continue to do so going forward. Kruger Products 

has historically targeted commodity contracts to cover almost all total fibre purchases. Kruger Products is exposed to 

fluctuations in the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar on production inputs, U.S. dollar denominated debt and other 

operating costs denominated in U.S. dollars. To manage this foreign exchange risk, Kruger Products may enter into foreign 

exchange swaps and foreign exchange forwards. Fixed costs at the plants include plant maintenance, overhead, insurance, 

property taxes, information technology, as well as depreciation and amortization (substantially all depreciation and 

amortization is included in Cost of sales).  

 

Freight and handling costs vary based on sales volume, the geographical mix of the product shipped, and the cost of 

fuel used by freight carriers. Freight costs can also be subject to fluctuations based on North American shifts in supply and 

demand. Freight rates and the availability of transportation assets have been favourably impacted as supply constraints and 

inflation have moderated. 

 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

 

Kruger Products’ selling, general and administrative expenses include marketing, selling, general and administrative 

costs, which include a very small portion of the overall depreciation and amortization.  

 

Selling costs include the costs related to sales including selling expenses, commissions and other related costs. 

Marketing costs include the costs related to marketing activities including advertising and promotion and market research. 

General and administrative expenses consist of costs related to operations oversight, logistics and customer service, finance, 

information technology, product development, legal, human resources, executive administration and other corporate 

expenses. It also includes foreign exchange gains and losses realized during the period.  

 

Interest Expense and Other Finance Costs 

 

Interest expense and other finance costs are derived from the financing activities of Kruger Products. Kruger Products 

is a borrower under certain credit facilities. Kruger Products also records amortization related to deferred financing fees, 

interest expense on lease liabilities and interest costs related to pensions and post-retirement benefits in interest expense and 

other finance costs.  
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Other Income (Expense)  

 

Other income (expense) includes foreign exchange gains and losses related to U.S. dollar denominated debt, the change 

in amortized cost of Partnership units liability (for 2022) and other items deemed to be non-operational in nature. 

 

Income Taxes  

 

As a result of the Reorganization (refer to Business Highlights, Corporate Reorganization for additional details), Kruger 

Products’ tax status changed from a limited partnership to a corporation. Kruger Products is, as of January 1, 2023 therefore, 

a tax paying entity and recognizes income tax provisions directly. The income taxes recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements of Kruger Products for Fiscal 2023 relate to the income taxes for its incorporated subsidiaries in the U.S. and 

Canada. Prior to the Reorganization, KPLP was not a tax paying entity. For Fiscal 2022, the income (loss) from KPLP 

flowed to the partners, Kruger Inc., KPGP and KPT. The income taxes recorded in the consolidated financial statements of 

KPLP for Fiscal 2022 relate to the income taxes for its incorporated subsidiaries in the U.S., Canada and Luxembourg. 

Effective December 15, 2022, TAD Luxembourg S.A.R.L., a principal subsidiary of KPLP, filed a certificate of conversion 

to continue out of a Luxembourg limited liability company to a Delaware corporation. On December 15, 2022, the name of 

the company was changed from TAD Luxembourg S.A.R.L. to K.T.G. US Holdco Inc. 

 

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS 

 
Sherbrooke Expansion Project  

 
In 2021, Kruger Products announced an investment totaling $351.5 million to expand the Sherbrooke operations with 

a Light Dry Crepe (LDC) tissue machine and two new production lines as well as the construction of a new tissue 

manufacturing facility (the Sherbrooke Expansion Project) over the following three years. The first stage of this project, a 

new bathroom tissue converting line, successfully started-up in February 2023. The second stage, the construction of a new 

tissue manufacturing facility, is well underway and includes a new facial tissue converting line, successfully started-up in 

February 2024. The final stage of the project is the LDC paper machine, expected to start-up in Q4 2024 and at maturity 

increase Kruger Products’ annual output by at least 60,000 metric tonnes. In Q3 2023, as a result of significant inflation 

across the supply chain and also interest rate increases during construction, the cost of the project was forecast to increase 

to $377.5 million, excluding start-up expenses and working capital. The additional costs are being financed by investments 

from Kruger Products into Kruger Products SB Inc. (KPSB) (of which $8.2 million was made on October 3, 2023) and an 

$8.2 million increase in the KPSB Construction Facility (refer to Liquidity and Capital Resources, Indebtedness, KPSB 

Senior Credit Agreement for additional details). Management continues to monitor the project closely to minimize the impact 

of any further inflation.  

 

The additional capacity will allow Kruger Products to expand its product offering and is expected to enable it to grow 

its market share across its different categories, including bathroom tissue, paper towels and facial tissue for household and 

away-from-home use under such brands as Cashmere®, SpongeTowels®, Scotties®, Purex® and Bonterra™ in Canada, 

and White Cloud® in the U.S.  

 

Corporate Reorganization 

 
On January 1, 2023, KPLP undertook a corporate reorganization (the Reorganization) pursuant to which KPLP, a 

limited partnership, was essentially replaced by a corporate entity without adversely affecting KPT. More specifically, KPLP 

sold and assigned to its wholly-owned subsidiary, Kruger Products, and Kruger Products purchased and assumed from 

KPLP, in exchange for common shares, all of the properties, operations, assets and liabilities of KPLP, and KPLP was 

subsequently dissolved and wound-up into its partners. As a result of the Reorganization, Kruger Products, as the successor 

corporate entity to KPLP, now operates the business previously operated by KPLP.  

  

The interest that KPT previously held in KPLP is now held in Kruger Products, and, through a shareholders’ agreement 

dated January 1, 2023 entered into with Kruger Inc. (the Shareholders’ Agreement), KPT has substantially equivalent rights 

in respect of the operation of, and its investment in, Kruger Products, as it had in respect of KPLP. The Reorganization was 
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undertaken to realize certain tax efficiencies for Kruger Products and to simplify Kruger Products’ corporate structure and 

financial reporting. The Reorganization was approved by the independent directors of KPT.  

 

 The Shareholders’ Agreement, and certain other agreements with Kruger Inc. that were amended and restated to reflect 

the Reorganization, are described in the Annual Information Form, and copies of those agreements are available on SEDAR+ 

at www.sedarplus.ca.  

  
Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the board of directors of Kruger Products shall determine the amount and 

date of any distribution by way of dividend. The holders of the issued and outstanding Kruger Products Common Shares are 

entitled to receive dividends if, as and when declared by the board of directors of Kruger Products. 

 

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement, Kruger Products adopted a dividend reinvestment plan (the Kruger Products 

DRIP), which permits shareholders that elect to participate in the Kruger Products DRIP to automatically reinvest all cash 

dividends in additional common shares at a price per common share equal to 100% of the five-day weighted average trading 

price of the common shares prior to the date of payment of the dividend. 

 

Shutdown of Certain Memphis Plant Production Assets 

 
On November 14, 2022, Kruger Products announced that certain older and inefficient production assets would be shut 

down at its plant in Memphis, Tennessee in January 2023. The plant, operated by Kruger Products’ subsidiary KTG, 

announced the shutdown of production assets including a LDC paper machine and six converting lines. The shutdown of 

these assets was determined to be in the best interests of operating efficiencies and profitability of the Memphis plant, and 

high quality facial tissue and premium TAD products will continue to be produced at the plant. Total restructuring costs 

were $3.7 million. Following the shutdown, the Memphis manufacturing facility consists of one TAD paper machine (the 

Memphis TAD Machine) with an aggregate annual capacity of 55,000 metric tonnes and one adjacent LDC paper machine 

with an aggregate annual capacity of 30,000 metric tonnes. 

 

  

http://www.sedarplus.c/
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
Results of Operations of Kruger Products 

 

  

________________________ 

1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this 

MD&A for more information on these measures. 

(C$ millions, Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022 vs.

unless otherwise noted) Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue 1,873.0            1,681.4            1,465.2            191.6               216.2               

Cost of sales (1,571.6)          (1,547.3)          (1,279.9)          (24.3)               (267.4)             

Selling, general and adminstrative expenses (167.2)             (124.6)             (118.1)             (42.6)               (6.5)                 

Restructuring costs, net (1.6)                 (4.6)                 (0.6)                 3.0                   (4.0)                 

Operating income 132.6               4.9                   66.6                 127.7               (61.7)               

Interest expense and other finance costs (70.3)               (74.5)               (70.7)               4.2                   (3.8)                 

Other income (expense) 9.4                   (3.4)                 (4.9)                 12.8                 1.5                   

Income (loss) before income taxes 71.7                 (73.0)               (9.0)                 144.7               (64.0)               

Income taxes:

Income tax recovery (expense)

at statutory rate (18.6)               19.0                 2.3                   (37.6)               16.7                 

Income tax in partners’ hands -                      1.2                   11.1                 (1.2)                 (9.9)                 

Other (54.8)               (4.1)                 37.6                 (50.7)               (41.7)               

Income tax recovery (expense) (73.4)               16.1                 51.0                 (89.5)               (34.9)               

Net income (loss) including

     non-controlling interest (1.7)                 (56.9)               42.0                 55.2                 (98.9)               

Net income attributable to 

     non-controlling interest 3.6                   -                      -                      3.6                   -                      

Net income (loss) attributable to 

     Kruger Products (5.3)                 (56.9)               42.0                 51.6                 (98.9)               

$ Change

(C$ millions, Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022 vs.

unless otherwise noted) Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
1

   to net income (loss):

Net income (loss) including 

non-controlling interest (1.7)                 (56.9)               42.0                 55.2                 (98.9)               

Interest expense and other finance costs 70.3                 74.5                 70.7                 (4.2)                 3.8                   

Income tax expense (recovery) 73.4                 (16.1)               (51.0)               89.5                 34.9                 

Depreciation and amortization 101.4               102.9               85.7                 (1.5)                 17.2                 

Foreign exchange loss (gain) (9.4)                 28.9                 (0.8)                 (38.3)               29.7                 

Change in amortized cost of Partnership unit liability -                      (25.6)               5.3                   25.6                 (30.9)               

Other expense -                      0.1                   0.4                   (0.1)                 (0.3)                 

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 3.0                   0.1                   0.4                   2.9                   (0.3)                 

Restructuring costs, net 1.6                   4.6                   0.6                   (3.0)                 4.0                   

Consulting costs related to

operational transformation initiatives -                      3.5                   -                      (3.5)                 3.5                   

Corporate development related costs -                      -                      0.1                   -                      (0.1)                 

Adjusted EBITDA
1

238.6               116.0               153.4               122.6               (37.4)               

$ Change
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Results of Operations Fiscal 2023 compared to Fiscal 2022 

 

Revenue 

 

Revenue was $1,873.0 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $1,681.4 million in Fiscal 2022, an increase of $191.6 

million or 11.4%. The increase in revenue was primarily due to higher sales volume along with the favourable impact of 

selling price increases implemented across all segments and regions during Fiscal 2022. Revenue was also favourably 

impacted by foreign exchange fluctuations on U.S. dollar sales (USD average 1.35 in Fiscal 2023 compared to 1.30 in Fiscal 

2022). From a geographic perspective, revenue in Canada increased $74.0 million or 7.4%, while revenue in the U.S. 

increased $117.6 million, or 17.1%. 

 

Cost of Sales 

 

Cost of sales was $1,571.6 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $1,547.3 million in Fiscal 2022, an increase of $24.3 

million or 1.6%. The increase in cost of sales was primarily due to higher sales volume, higher manufacturing cost input 

prices resulting from the significant inflation experienced during 2022 that carried into 2023 and the unfavourable impact 

of foreign exchange fluctuations on U.S. dollar costs. These increases were partially offset by lower pulp prices primarily in 

the fourth quarter of 2023 and improvements in Memphis operations. Freight costs were lower compared to Fiscal 2022 as 

supply constraints and inflation moderated, while warehousing costs increased as a result of additional logistics network 

costs. As a percentage of revenue, cost of sales was 83.9% in Fiscal 2023 compared to 92.0% in Fiscal 2022. 

 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses  

 

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses were $167.2 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $124.6 million 

in Fiscal 2022, an increase of $42.6 million or 34.1%. The increase was primarily due to additional investment in advertising 

and promotion, higher selling expense to support additional sales volume, and higher personnel and IT costs. In addition, 

Fiscal 2023 included higher foreign exchange losses related to foreign denominated working capital, higher consulting costs 

and a loss on disposal of fixed assets. As a percentage of revenue, SG&A expenses were 8.9% in Fiscal 2023 compared to 

7.4% in Fiscal 2022. 

 

Restructuring Costs 

 

Restructuring costs were $1.6 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $4.6 million in Fiscal 2022 due primarily to the 

shutdown of certain Memphis plant production assets as described in the Business Highlights section above. 

 

Adjusted EBITDA  

 

Adjusted EBITDA1 was $238.6 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $116.0 million in Fiscal 2022, an increase of $122.6 

million or 105.7%. The significant increase was primarily due to the favourable impact of selling price increases 

implemented in Fiscal 2022 along with higher sales volume, lower pulp prices, improvements in Memphis operations and 

lower freight costs, partially offset by other input cost inflation compared to Fiscal 2022, higher manufacturing overhead 

spending, and higher warehousing and SG&A expenses along with the unfavourable impact of foreign exchange 

fluctuations. 

 

Interest Expense and Other Finance Costs  

 

Interest expense and other finance costs were $70.3 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $74.5 million in Fiscal 2022, a 

decrease of $4.2 million. The decrease was primarily due to lower pension expense, higher interest income and the loss on 

extinguishment of debt recorded in Fiscal 2022, partially offset by higher debt levels compared to Fiscal 2022 and higher 

interest rates on variable rate operating debt. 

 
1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this 

MD&A for more information on these measures. 
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Foreign Exchange Loss (Gain) 

 

Foreign exchange gain was $9.4 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to a loss of $28.9 million in Fiscal 2022 due to the 

favourable impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on USD denominated debt. The foreign exchange gains and losses were 

recorded in Other expense (income) in the consolidated statements of loss during Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022. 

 

Change in Amortized Cost of Partnership Units Liability 

 

Fiscal 2022 included a gain of $25.6 million resulting from the annual revaluation. The Partnership units liability was 

extinguished on January 1, 2023, in connection with the Reorganization and as a result there was no annual revaluation 

required during Fiscal 2023. The change in the amortized cost of Partnership units liability was recorded in Other expense 

(income) in the consolidated statement of loss during Fiscal 2022. 

 

 Income Taxes  

 

An income tax expense of $73.4 million was recorded in Fiscal 2023 compared to an income tax recovery of $16.1 

million in Fiscal 2022. Kruger Products Inc. is now directly taxable on its Canadian business as a result of the Reorganization 

on January 1, 2023 while it was operating as a limited partnership during Fiscal 2022 and not directly taxable on its Canadian 

business. The income tax expense in Fiscal 2023 was primarily due to a deferred tax expense of $70.8 million, which related 

primarily to the recognition of the deferred tax liability resulting from all temporary differences between the tax value and 

carrying value of Kruger Product’s assets and liabilities transferred in the Reorganization on January 1, 2023. Income tax in 

partner’s hands was a recovery of $1.2 million in Fiscal 2022.  

 

Net Loss attributable to Kruger Products 

 

Net loss was $5.3 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $56.9 million in Fiscal 2022, a decrease in the loss of $51.6 

million. The decrease in the loss was primarily due to higher Adjusted EBITDA1 of $122.6 million, lower foreign exchange 

loss of $38.3 million, lower interest expense of $4.2 million, lower consulting costs of $3.5 million, lower restructuring costs 

of $3.0 million and lower depreciation and amortization expense of $1.5 million, partially offset by higher income tax 

expense of $89.5 million, the change in the amortized cost of Partnership units liability of $25.6 million in Fiscal 2022, a 

loss on sale of fixed assets of $3.0 million and a loss from non-controlling interest of $3.6 million resulting from the parent 

company, Kruger Inc., assuming the monthly redemption payments under the KPSI IQ Debenture in Fiscal 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this 

MD&A for more information on these measures. 
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Results of Operations of KPT  

 

 
 

The financial information presented above is based on KPT’s interest in Kruger Products for Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 

2022. The share of income (loss) relates to KPT’s share of income (loss) of Kruger Products. Refer to Results of Operations 

of Kruger Products above for an explanation of the results. The depreciation of fair value increments relates to adjustments 

to the carrying amount of certain assets of Kruger Products on its acquisition by KPT. Refer to note 5 in KPT’s financial 

statements for additional details. 

 

The deferred tax recovery is a result of changes in the temporary differences of Kruger Products’ assets and liabilities 

since acquisition and the difference between the accounting and tax basis for KPT’s investment in Kruger Products. Refer 

to note 6 in KPT’s financial statements for additional details. 

 

 

SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

Segment Operating Income 

 

Segment operating income is the earnings (loss) for each such segment before (i) interest expense and other finance 

costs, (ii) income taxes, (iii) depreciation, (iv) amortization, (v) loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, (vi) 

foreign exchange loss (gain), (vii) costs related to restructuring activities, (viii) changes in amortized cost of Partnership 

units liability, (ix) consulting costs related to operational transformation initiatives and (x) corporate development related 

costs. “Consumer Segment Adjusted EBITDA” and “AFH Segment Adjusted EBITDA” means in each case the Segment 

operating income for the referring respective segment of Kruger Products.  

Segment Results 

 

 

Fiscal Fiscal

(C$ millions, unless otherwise noted) 2023 2022

Statement of Operations Data:

Share of loss (0.7)                        (8.1)                        

Depreciation of fair value increments (1.2)                        (5.2)                        -                             -                             

Equity loss (1.9)                        (13.3)                      

Dilution gain 1.1                          0.8                         

Loss before income taxes (0.8)                        (12.5)                      

Income taxes:

Current tax recovery (expense) (0.2)                        0.4                         

Deferred tax recovery (expense) (3.9)                        1.9                         

Income tax recovery (expense) (4.1)                        2.3                         

Net loss (4.9)                        (10.2)                      

Basic loss per share (dollars) (0.50)                      (1.03)                      

(C$ millions,

unless otherwise noted) Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change

Segment Revenue

Consumer 1,551.2       1,394.1       1,260.1       157.1          11.3% 134.0          10.6%

AFH 321.8          287.3          205.1          34.5            12.0% 82.2            40.1%

Total segment revenue 1,873.0       1,681.4       1,465.2       191.6          11.4% 216.2          14.8%

Adjusted EBITDA
1

Consumer 230.3          117.4          167.3          112.9          (49.9)          

AFH 20.8            7.4              (4.9)            13.4            12.3            

Corporate and other costs (12.5)          (8.8)            (9.0)            (3.7)            0.2              

Total Adjusted EBITDA
1 238.6          116.0          153.4          122.6          (37.4)          

Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2022 vs. Fiscal 2021
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Consumer Segment 
 

Fiscal 2023 compared to Fiscal 2022 

 

Consumer segment revenue was $1,551.2 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $1,394.1 million in Fiscal 2022, an 

increase of $157.1 million or 11.3%. The increase in revenue was due to higher sales volume along with selling price 

increases implemented in Canada and the U.S. during Fiscal 2022 and the favourable impact of foreign exchange fluctuations 

on U.S. dollar sales. Consumer segment revenue increased in both Canada and the U.S.  

 

 

Consumer Segment Adjusted EBITDA1 was $230.3 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $117.4 million in Fiscal 2022, 

an increase of $112.9 million. The significant increase in Adjusted EBITDA1 was primarily due to the increase in Consumer 

segment revenue along with lower freight costs, partially offset by higher cost of sales, warehousing expenses and SG&A 

costs. 

 

AFH Segment 

 

Fiscal 2023 compared to Fiscal 2022 

 

AFH segment revenue was $321.8 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $287.3 million in Fiscal 2022, an increase of 

$34.5 million or 12.0%. The increase was primarily due to higher sales volume in both the U.S. and Canada, selling price 

increases implemented during 2022 and the favourable impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on U.S. dollar sales. AFH 

segment revenue increased in both the U.S. and Canada.  

 

AFH Segment Adjusted EBITDA1 was $20.8 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $7.4 million in Fiscal 2022, an 

increase of $13.4 million. The increase was primarily due to the favourable revenue impact and lower freight costs, partially 

offset by higher cost of sales, warehousing expenses and SG&A costs.  

 

Corporate and Other Costs 

 

Corporate and other costs include certain management overhead costs not directly attributable to the business segments. 

 

Fiscal 2023 compared to Fiscal 2022 

 

Corporate and other costs were $12.5 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $8.8 million in Fiscal 2022, an increase of 

$3.7 million resulting primarily from lower foreign exchange gains related to working capital compared to Fiscal 2022. 

 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  

 

Overview  
 

Kruger Products’ principal uses of funds are for operating costs, working capital, capital expenditures, pension 

contributions and dividends (together, the Funding Requirements). To date, Kruger Products has met the Funding 

Requirements by using cash generated from operating activities and the Dividend Reinvestment Plan and borrowings under 

its various debt facilities. Kruger Products is required to make funding contributions to the sponsored, registered defined 

benefit pension plans (RDBPP) over the next ten years. Kruger Products Management believes that cash generated from 

operations and the Dividend Reinvestment Plan, together with amounts available under the various debt facilities will be 

sufficient to meet its future Funding Requirements. However, Kruger Products’ ability to meet future Funding Requirements 

and its ability to make scheduled payments of interest and principal on its debt facilities and to satisfy any of its other present 

or future debt obligations will depend on its future operating performance, which will be affected by general economic, 

financial, and other factors including factors beyond its control. Kruger Products Management reviews investment 

opportunities in the normal course of its business and may, if suitable opportunities arise, make selected investments to 

 
1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this 

MD&A for more information on these measures. 
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implement Kruger Products’ business strategy. Historically, the funding for any such investments has come from cash flows 

from operations and/or additional debt.  

 

As of December 31, 2023, Kruger Products was in compliance with all of its financial covenants under all of its 

outstanding credit facilities. As of December 31, 2023, Kruger Products had no draws on the $200 million committed amount 

under the Kruger Products Senior Credit Facility and had $11.5 million of letters of credit outstanding, resulting in $188.5 

million available from the Kruger Products Senior Credit Facility, subject to covenant limitations. As of December 31, 2023, 

Kruger Products had two revolving loans available under the TAD Sherbrooke Project Facility. The US$10 million ($13.2 

million) revolving loan had no draws and the $12.5 million revolving loan had no draws and outstanding letters of credit of 

$8.3 million, resulting in $17.4 million available from the revolving loans. As of December 31, 2023, KPSB had drawn $0.6 

million on the $5 million committed amount under the KPSB Revolving Facility and had $4.4 million of letters of credit 

outstanding, resulting in the KPSB Revolving Facility being fully drawn. As of December 31, 2023, Kruger Products had 

total liquidity of $326.7 million (December 31, 2022 - $133.4 million) representing cash and cash equivalents and availability 

under the Kruger Products Senior Credit Facility and the revolving loans available under the TAD Sherbrooke Project 

Facility within the covenant limitations. In addition, $14.9 million (December 31, 2022 - $29.7 million) of cash and cash 

equivalents were held by Kruger Products for the Sherbrooke Expansion Project.  

 

As it pertains to capital expenditures, approximately $25 million annually relates to maintenance projects and the 

remaining expenditures are focused on strategic and growth projects aimed at reducing costs and offsetting annual inflation 

or increasing production capacity. Regular growth projects focused on performance improvement generally have a 3 to 4 

year payback. Capital expenditures were $185.4 million in Fiscal 2023, including $148.4 million related to the Sherbrooke 

Expansion Project (including interest capitalized during construction) and government assistance received of $1.3 million. 

Capital expenditures are expected to be approximately $200 million to $220 million in fiscal 2024, including the Sherbrooke 

Expansion Project. 

 

The tissue industry is generally characterized by high sales volume and rapid turnover of inventories and accounts 

receivable. In general, accounts receivable and inventories are readily convertible into cash. Investment in working capital 

may be affected by fluctuations in the prices of pulp and other supply costs, vendor terms and timing of collection of accounts 

receivable. Kruger Products participates in a factoring program to assist in managing working capital. Under the program, 

Kruger Products derecognizes certain receivables upon sale. 

 

Cash Flows 

  

 
 

 

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  

 

Net cash from operating activities was $344.3 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $38.7 million in Fiscal 2022. Cash 

from operating activities in Fiscal 2023 was primarily driven by Adjusted EBITDA1 of $238.6 million (Fiscal 2022 - $116.0 

million), a decrease in working capital of $110.2 million (Fiscal 2022 – increase of $65.2 million), partially offset by 

 
1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this 

MD&A for more information on these measures. 

Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022 vs.

(C$ millions, unless otherwise stated) Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

Net cash flows from operating activities 344.3                 38.7                   81.4                   305.6                 (42.7)                  

Net cash flows used in investing activities (182.8)                (115.6)                (145.7)                (67.2)                  30.1                   

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities (95.9)                  (2.5)                    84.9                   (93.4)                  (87.4)                  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 

and cash equivalents held in foreign currency (1.2)                    2.2                     (0.8)                    (3.4)                    3.0                     

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 64.4                   (77.2)                  19.8                   141.6                 (97.0)                  

Beginning cash and cash equivalents, net 71.3                   148.5                 128.7                 (77.2)                  19.8                   -                         

Ending cash and cash equivalents, net 135.7                 71.3                   148.5                 64.4                   (77.2)                  

$ Change
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provisions paid of $4.3 million (Fiscal 2022 - $4.2 million) and income tax payments of $1.8 million (Fiscal 2022 - $1.8 

million).  

 

Net Cash Flows used in Investing Activities  

 

Net cash used in investing activities was $182.8 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $115.6 million in Fiscal 2022. 

Cash used in investing activities related primarily to capital expenditures of $185.4 million (including $148.4 million for the 

Sherbrooke Expansion Project) in Fiscal 2023 compared to $115.6 million (including $53.4 million for the Sherbrooke 

Expansion Project and $20.7 million for the TAD Sherbrooke Project) in Fiscal 2022.  

 

Net Cash Flows from (used in) Financing Activities  

 

Net cash used in financing activities was $95.9 million in Fiscal 2023 compared to $2.5 million in Fiscal 2022. Net 

cash used in financing activities in Fiscal 2023 was primarily due to interest paid of $49.4 million (Fiscal 2022 – $51.9 

million), lease payments of $30.8 million (Fiscal 2022 – $28.1 million), net dividends paid of $7.0 million (Fiscal 2022 – 

net distributions of $17.5 million), payment to related party of $5.7 million (Fiscal 2022 – nil), the change in Restricted cash 

of $5.3 million (Fiscal 2022 - $4.6 million) and deferred financing fees paid of $0.9 million (Fiscal 2022 - $3.0 million), 

partially offset by proceeds from debt net of repayments of $3.2 million (Fiscal 2022 – $102.7 million).  

 

Contractual Obligations 

 
 

 

Kruger Products’ contractual obligations consist of long-term debt (principal repayments and interest payments), 

pensions and right-of-use leases for the rental of property, equipment and motor vehicles.  

 

As of December 31, 2023, Kruger Products had $50.1 million (December 31, 2022 – $121.7 million) of commitments 

related to the Sherbrooke Expansion Project. 

 

Kruger Products’ cash pension contribution for defined benefit pension arrangements in Fiscal 2023 was $6.2 million, 

while its post-retirement benefits contribution was $2.3 million. In addition, as of December 31, 2023, Kruger Products had 

$9.6 million of letters of credit related to pensions outstanding. Pension contributions for fiscal 2024 are expected to be $2.5 

million and post-retirement contributions for fiscal 2024 are expected to be $2.1 million. 

(C$ millions, unless otherwise stated)
Fiscal 

2024

Fiscal 

2025

Fiscal 

2026

Fiscal 

2027

Fiscal 

2028 Thereafter Total

Contractual obligations:

Senior Unsecured Notes due April 24, 2025, principal repayments -             125.0      -             -             -             -                125.0      

Senior Unsecured Notes due April 9, 2029, principal repayments -             -             -             -             -             135.0         135.0      

AgCredit Term A Credit Facility, principal repayments 5.5          4.4          12.5        13.2        13.8        138.4         187.8      

AgCredit Term B Credit Facility, principal repayments -             -             14.0        17.7        18.5        188.6         238.8      

AgCredit Term D Credit Facility, principal repayments -             -             5.6          7.9          8.4          93.2           115.1      

KPSI IQ Debenture, principal repayments 16.7        16.7        16.7        16.7        14.7        -                81.5        

KPSB IQ Debenture, principal repayments -             -             2.5          9.9          9.9          52.7           75.0        

Nordea2 Credit Facility, principal repayments 7.6          7.6          7.6          7.6          7.6          7.5             45.5        

IQ Bathroom Tissue Loan, principal repayments -             1.1          6.9          6.9          6.9          19.1           40.9        

KPSB Senior Credit Facility, principal repayments -             -             -             -             35.2        -                35.2        

IQ Facial T issue Loan, principal repayments -             2.8          5.6          5.6          5.6          14.6           34.2        

Quebec PM Loan, principal repayments 4.9          0.3          - - - - 5.2          

Ontario Loan, principal repayments 0.5          0.5          0.5          -             -             -                1.5          

KPSB Revolver, principal repayments -             -             0.6          -             -             -                0.6          

Interest payments 50.4        46.1        38.1        35.9        32.8        93.5           296.8      

Right-of-use lease payments 27.2        16.8        13.3        12.3        8.5          48.8           126.9      

Contribution Undertaking Agreement, Contributions 5.8          5.8          5.8          5.8          5.8          23.2           52.2        

Service contract payments 13.3        3.8          2.4          1.1          1.1          15.0           36.7        

Total contractual obligations 131.9      230.9      132.1      140.6      168.8      829.6         1,633.9   
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As a result of the Reorganization, the Partnership unit liability was extinguished as the Limited Partnership Agreement 

was dissolved and the corresponding requirement to make the Tax Distribution was eliminated. The outstanding liability of 

$133.6 million as of January 1, 2023 was reclassified to Equity in the consolidated statements of financial position. Refer to 

Business Highlights, Corporate Reorganization for additional details. 

 

The Exchange Agreement was amended and restated on January 1, 2023 to reflect the Reorganization. Pursuant to the 

Exchange Agreement, KPT has granted Kruger Inc. the right to exchange Kruger Products Common Shares it holds from 

time to time for common shares of KPT (the KPT Common Shares) issued by KPT on the basis of one Kruger Products 

common share for one KPT Common Share, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events that would result 

in the indirect economic interest in Kruger Products represented by a KPT Common Share diverging from the direct 

economic interest in Kruger Products represented by a Kruger Products Common Share, including splits or consolidations 

of the KPT Common Shares without a corresponding split or consolidation of the Kruger Products Common Shares, 

issuances or repurchases of the KPT Common Shares without corresponding issuances or repurchases of Kruger Products 

Common Shares, acquisition of assets by KPT other than Kruger Products Common Shares or incurrence of liabilities other 

than ordinary course liabilities, or special distributions by KPT, certain other securities, debt or assets to all shareholders. If 

at any time the Kruger Inc. aggregate ownership interest is less than 20% in Kruger Products, KPT may require the exchange 

of all outstanding Kruger Products Common Shares held by Kruger Inc. or its affiliates in return for KPT Common Shares 

on the basis of one Kruger Products Common Share for one KPT Common Share subject to adjustment as set forth above. 

As of December 31, 2023, no Kruger Products Common Shares had been exchanged for KPT Common Shares. 

 

The Administration Agreement was amended and restated on January 1, 2023 to reflect the Reorganization. Pursuant 

to the Administration Agreement, Kruger Products, as administrator (the Administrator) has full power and authority to 

administer, subject to the general supervision and any specific instructions of the KPT Board, all of the ongoing operations 

and affairs of KPT in order for KPT to carry on its activities as a public company. The Administrator shall directly bear and 

pay for all KPT’s normal operating expenses incurred in connection with the ordinary course operation of a company that is 

a reporting issuer. The Administrator may also advance funds to KPT in an amount equal to pay for any expenses of KPT 

that are outside of such ordinary course expenses, by way of non-recourse, interest-free loans, repayable upon payment by 

the Administrator of distributions to KPT. As KPT’s agent, the Administrator will also bear and pay all outlays and expenses 

to third parties incurred by the Administrator in the administration of the affairs of KPT and the performance by the 

Administrator of its duties under the Administration Agreement. 

 

Indebtedness 

 
Certain of Kruger Products’ debt agreements were amended effective as of January 1, 2023 in connection with the 

Reorganization, to stipulate that Kruger Products assumed the obligations and liabilities of KPLP as principal debtor, and 

KPLP was released and discharged from its obligations and liabilities under the respective debt agreements.  

 
AgCredit Agreement 

 
On March 30, 2022, the borrowers entered into the fourth amendment to the AgCredit Agreement (the Fourth 

Amendment) to make available through the TAD Sherbrooke Project Facility a new US$87 million term loan facility (the 

Term D Credit Facility) for the purpose of refinancing the borrowings outstanding under the $111 million term loan facility 

(the Term C Credit Facility) and to extend the maturity dates of the revolving loans of US$10 million and $12.5 million 

from December 31, 2023 to December 31, 2026. The Term D Credit Facility was drawn in full on March 30, 2022 and was 

used to repay in full the $107.0 million of principal, accrued interest and fees outstanding under the Term C Credit Facility 

on March 30, 2022. The prepayment of the Term C Credit Facility was accounted for as a debt extinguishment and resulted 

in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.5 million (including $1.3 million for the unamortized portion of transaction costs 

originally deducted from the Term C Credit Facility), recorded in Interest expense and other finance costs in the consolidated 

statement of loss during Fiscal 2022.   

 

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year, commencing with the fiscal year 

ending on or about December 31, 2022 through and including the fiscal year ending on or about December 31, 2025, KPSI 

agreed to deposit an aggregate amount equal to 75% of the Canadian Borrower Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the Fourth 

Amendment) for such fiscal year in a designated bank account (the KPSI Dedicated Account) to be used only for the purpose 
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of prepaying the Term D Credit Facility, subject to certain conditions specified in the Fourth Amendment. No amounts were 

deposited in the KPSI Dedicated Account during Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022. 

 

On September 15, 2022, the borrowers entered into the fifth amendment to the AgCredit Agreement (the Fifth 

Amendment) to amend the definition of the Combined Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the AgCredit 

Agreement). The Fifth Amendment also changed the starting date of the Combined Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio from the 

fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2022 to the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2022.  

 

KPSI IQ Debenture 

 

The KPSI IQ Debenture repayment agreement was amended effective as of November 15, 2023 to reflect the 

authorization of a new class of KPSI non-voting common shares on October 13, 2023. The amendment stipulates that the 

party that makes the redemption payment (the Payor) will receive either voting or non-voting common shares of KPSI (at 

the discretion of the Payor) as consideration of such payment.  

 

The first twelve monthly redemption payments under the KPSI IQ Debenture were made by KPLP during Fiscal 2022, 

in exchange for voting common shares of KPSI. The next twelve monthly redemption payments under the KPSI IQ 

Debenture were made by Kruger Inc. during Fiscal 2023. Kruger Inc. received a combination of voting and non-voting 

common shares of KPSI with a value of $19.4 million as consideration, resulting in Kruger Inc. holding an 11.8% non-

controlling interest directly in KPSI as of December 31, 2023. As a result, a non-controlling interest of $23.0 million has 

been recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2023. Net loss in the consolidated 

statement of loss for Fiscal 2023 includes a loss of $3.6 million directly attributable to Kruger Inc’s share of loss in KPSI. 

Two monthly redemption payments by Kruger Inc. occurred subsequent to December 31, 2023.  

 

KPSB IQ Debenture 

 
Pursuant to the repayment agreement in connection with the KPSB IQ Debenture, Kruger Products holds prescribed 

Rate Discounts, as administered by the Ministère des Finances du Québec, in a dedicated account to be used only for the 

purpose of funding Kruger Products’ redemption payments to IQ. No redemption payments to IQ were funded during Fiscal  

2023 and Fiscal 2022.  

 

KPSB Senior Credit Agreement  

 
On June 5, 2023, KPSB entered into the third supplemental credit agreement to the KPSB Senior Credit Agreement to 

amend certain provisions of the KPSB Senior Credit Agreement for the purpose of making the KPSB Revolving Facility 

available as of June 5, 2023.  The amended provisions also include the implementation of interest rate benchmark transition, 

including the replacement of Libor loans with SOFR loans. 

 

On November 9, 2023, KPSB entered into the fourth supplemental credit agreement to the KPSB Senior Credit 

Agreement to increase the KPSB Construction Facility to $158.2 million from $150 million. The amended provisions also 

include the implementation of interest rate benchmark transition, including the replacement of CORRA loans with CDOR 

loans. 

  

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS 

 

Credit Risk  

 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations. Kruger Products’ financial instruments exposed to credit risk as of December 31, 2023 included 

cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables and receivables from related parties. Kruger Products 

places its cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash with financial institutions of high creditworthiness.  

 

Kruger Products sells its products to a variety of customers under certain credit terms and therefore is exposed to credit 

risks. Normal trade receivables are due within 30 days from the invoice date and amounts in excess of 90 days past the 

invoice date are considered delinquent. Kruger Products routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and 
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mitigates against identified exposure primarily by lowering credit limits with high-risk accounts. Kruger Products’ customers 

are well established companies and accordingly, Kruger Products has experienced limited financial loss with respect to credit 

risk. As a result, Kruger Products believes that its exposure to credit risk is limited.  

 

Kruger Products is party to a factoring arrangement, whereby Kruger Products sells to the Bank of Nova Scotia, on a 

non-recourse basis, eligible trade receivables owing by certain key customers with a facility limit of $50 million. The 

factoring arrangement bears interest at a floating interest rate based on CDOR plus applicable margin. Either party may 

terminate the arrangement at any time subject to a notice period. During Fiscal 2023, the factored receivables sold to the 

Bank of Nova Scotia were $777.2 million (Fiscal 2022 - $674.3 million). Kruger Products sold 95% of these trade 

receivables, net of a dilution factor, for $773.0 million (Fiscal 2022 - $672.4 million). As of December 31, 2023, the trade 

receivables sold were $39.5 million (December 31, 2022 - $42.3 million). 

 

Currency Risk  

Currency risk is the risk that Kruger Products’ earnings may fluctuate due to changes in Canadian to U.S. dollar 

exchange rates, as the financial results are reported in Canadian dollars. Kruger Products sells certain of its products in U.S. 

dollars at prevailing U.S. dollar prices. The currency exposure is more than offset by U.S. dollar costs and expenses and the 

U.S. dollar denominated debt.  

 

As of December 31, 2023, Kruger Products had net liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars of $402.3 million 

(December 31, 2022 – $421.2 million). Assuming the Canadian dollar strengthened (weakened) by 5% against the U.S. 

dollar, with all other variables held constant, the hypothetical result on net income before tax in Fiscal 2023 would have 

been an increase (decrease) of $20.1 million (Fiscal 2022 – $21.1 million).  

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

The purpose of liquidity risk management is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents and to ensure Kruger 

Products has sufficient authorized credit facilities to maintain liquidity and meet its future obligations as they come due.  

 

The ability to pay its obligations relies on Kruger Products collecting its trade receivables in a timely manner and by 

maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents in excess of anticipated needs. Kruger Products’ trade and other payables 

of $400.4 million as of December 31, 2023 (December 31, 2022 –$279.4 million) are all due for payment within twelve 

months of the dates of the consolidated statements of financial position. 

 

Refer to Liquidity and Capital Resources, Overview for additional details. 

 

Interest Rate Risk  

 

Kruger Products’ interest rate risk arises from its variable rate debt related to the Kruger Products Senior Credit Facility, 

certain credit facilities made available as part of the TAD Sherbrooke Project Facility and the KPSB Senior Credit Facility, 

which bear interest at floating interest rates plus an applicable margin as determined by specific financial ratios in accordance 

with its credit agreements. As of  December 31, 2023, Kruger Products had variable rate debts, excluding deferred financing 

fees, of $35.8 million (December 31, 2022 – $107.5 million). A 100 basis point increase (decrease) in the market rate of 

interest would result in an increase (decrease) in net loss before tax of $0.4 million for Fiscal 2023. 

 

 

Commodity Price Risk  

Commodity price risk is the risk that future cash flows associated with purchasing required raw materials will fluctuate 

due to changes in commodity prices, which can be affected by foreign exchange and other trade related risks. Kruger 

Products is subject to commodity price fluctuations since Kruger Products’ main raw material is fibre, which changes price 

due to market conditions, and therefore can result in periodic earnings volatility in the short term. Historically, the industry 

has generally been able to mitigate its exposure to commodity price risk over the medium term by passing increases in its 

supply costs onto its customers through incremental price increases, depending on the supply and demand balance. The 

ability to eventually pass through the full amount of pulp and other commodity cost increases can be impacted by the 
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competitive market situation. There can be no assurance that the historical ability to pass through increases in costs will 

continue to occur in the future.  

 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

Kruger Products and Kruger are parties to a Third Amended and Restated Management Services Agreement dated as 

of November 15, 2019 with effect as of January 1, 2020 (the Management Services Agreement) pursuant to which Kruger 

provides certain management and support services to Kruger Products, including corporate management support and 

administrative support services; accounting and tax support; corporate financing and treasury support; benefits and human 

resources support services; corporate insurance; corporate procurement services complementary to Kruger Products 

procurement; project development and management services, corporate development support, environmental support and 

corporate engineering support services.  

 

Kruger Inc. is also providing certain management and support services related to the Sherbrooke Expansion Project 

including project management services, and engineering, construction, accounting and corporate finance support services.  

 

Kruger Products also leases warehouses located in Laval, Québec and New Westminster, British Columbia from an 

entity of which an affiliate of Kruger is a 50% owner.  

 

Kruger Products purchases certain supplies and services from Kruger Inc. and its affiliates, including fibre and small 

quantities of pulp and packaging. These transactions generally take place on arm’s-length terms. Kruger Products also has 

the ability to procure these goods and services from third party suppliers.  

 

Goods are sold to Kruger Inc. and subsidiaries of Kruger Inc. based on the price lists in force and terms that would be 

available to third parties.  

 

 
 

During Fiscal 2023, in connection with the contribution undertaking agreement, Kruger Products made an annual 

payment of $5.7 million to Kruger Brompton L.P., a subsidiary of Kruger Inc. Also during Fiscal 2023, the increase in the 

obligation due to passage of time was $2.3 million and was recognized as Interest expense and other finance costs in the 

consolidated statement of loss. 

 

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

 

Kruger Products has entered into right-of-use lease commitments related to land, buildings, IT services, vehicles and 

other machines and equipment. Refer to Liquidity and Capital Resources, Contractual Obligations for additional details on 

contractual obligations including these right-of-use leases. 

 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements is in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, which 

requires Kruger Products Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures 

made in the Kruger Products and KPT financial statements and accompanying notes. Kruger Products Management 

continually evaluates the estimates and assumptions it uses. These estimates and assumptions are based on Kruger Products 

Management’s historical experience, best knowledge of current events and conditions and activities that Kruger Products 

and KPT may undertake in the future. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates. The estimates and 

assumptions described in this section depend upon subjective or complex judgment that may be uncertain and changes in 

these estimates and assumptions could materially impact the financial statements.   

Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022

$ $

Sales of goods to Kruger Inc. 131                             298                             

Sale of goods to subsidiaries of Kruger Inc 4,311                          4,083                          

Purchases of goods from Kruger Inc. 506                             587                             

Purchases of goods and services from subsidiaries of Kruger Inc. 42,894                        57,908                        

Management fees to Kruger Inc. 8,277                          7,787                          
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Pension and Post-Retirement Benefit Obligations  

 

The cost and accrued benefit plan obligations of Kruger Products’ pension plans, consisting of the RDBPP, 

supplementary retirement arrangements and the Annuity Arrangement and other benefit plans are accrued based on actuarial 

valuations that are dependent on assumptions determined by Kruger Products Management. These assumptions include the 

discount rate, the expected growth rate of health care costs, the rate of compensation increase, retirement ages and mortality 

rates. These assumptions are reviewed quarterly by Kruger Products Management and Kruger Products’ actuaries. The 

discount rate (based on market rates) and the expected growth rate in health care costs represent the most significant 

assumptions.  

 

Partnership Units Liability 

 
The Partnership units liability was management’s best estimate of the Partnership’s expected future distributions to its 

partners in such amounts as would enable KPT to discharge its obligation to pay federal and provincial income taxes (the 

Tax Distribution), as required by the Partnership Agreement. 

 

As of December 31, 2022, $133.6 million was recorded as a liability in respect of this obligation, based on using a 

discounted cash flow model. The valuation utilized a discount rate and terminal growth rate of 9.75% and 2.0%, respectively. 

The discount rate reflected the risks associated with the business, which operates primarily in Canada. As a result of the 

reassessment performed as of December 31, 2022, a gain of $25.6 million was recorded during Fiscal 2022 related to the 

change in amortized cost of Partnership units liability. 

 

As a result of the Reorganization, the Partnership unit liability was extinguished as the Partnership Agreement was 

dissolved and the corresponding requirement to make the Tax Distribution was eliminated. Refer to Business Highlights, 

Corporate Reorganization for additional details. 

 

Equity Method of Accounting  

 

The equity method of accounting is being applied by KPT as it relates to its investment in Kruger Products. The 

conclusion to account for an investment using the equity method, particularly when the percentage of ownership is below 

20%, is based on an assessment of several facts and circumstances and ultimately requires significant judgment in reaching 

a conclusion. Management has reviewed the agreements and made an assessment of the rights of KPT. Based on KPT having 

four of ten seats on the board of directors of KPGP, KPT Management has concluded that KPT has the ability to exercise 

significant influence over Kruger Products.   

 

Impairment Tests 

 
Management completed the annual impairment test for goodwill related to the Consumer Canada CGU, utilizing future 

forecasts and concluded that the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount as of December 31, 2023 and no 

impairment was recorded. Assumptions include estimates of the discount rate, growth rates and selling price to customer. 
As of December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the Canada Consumer CGU's goodwill was $152.0 million and the carrying 

value of the AFH CGU's goodwill was nil.   

 

Management completed the annual impairment test for indefinite lived trademarks. Recoverable amounts related to 

indefinite lived trademarks are determined based on management’s best estimate using a relief from royalty model. The 

estimates of relief from royalty are based on the royalties that would have to be paid based on market royalty rates and 

projected sales volumes. Additional assumptions include estimates of the discount rate, growth rates, selling price to 

customer and foreign exchange rates. Management concluded that current and projected sales volumes and profitability 

support the recoverable amount of the indefinite lived trademarks and no impairment was recorded. As of December 31, 

2023, the carrying value of indefinite lived trademarks was $16.0 million. 

 

The carrying values of non-financial assets with finite lives, such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

with finite useful lives are assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate their carrying 

amounts may not be recoverable. Where indicators of impairment are identified, an impairment test is performed to 
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determine the recoverable amount. As of December 31, 2023, there were no indicators of impairment and as a result no need 

to perform impairment testing. 

 

KPT is required to perform an impairment test on its investment in Kruger Products if there is objective evidence that 

the investment may be impaired. Management concluded the future forecasts that support the investment value had not 

changed significantly and therefore there was no indication of impairment. 

 

Income Taxes  

 

Estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of the deferred tax assets and the income taxes 

recoverable based on an assessment of the ability to use the underlying tax deductions and credits against future taxable 

income. The assessment requires an estimate of future taxable income compared to the net operating loss carry forwards and 

U.S. State tax credits. To the extent estimates differ from the final tax return, earnings would be affected in a subsequent 

period. Management exercises judgment to determine the extent to which realization of future taxable benefits is probable, 

considering factors such as the number of years to include in the forecast period and the history of taxable profits. During 

Fiscal 2023, Kruger Products assessed its ability to utilize the U.S. State tax credits and its ability to utilize net operating 

loss carry forwards.  

 

Leases 

 

The application of IFRS Accounting Standards 16 requires a number of critical judgements, including identifying 

whether a contract (or part of a contract) includes a lease, determining whether it is reasonably certain that an extension or 

termination option will be exercised, determining whether variable payments are in-substance fixed, establishing whether 

there are multiple leases in an arrangement, and determining the stand-alone selling price of lease and non-lease components. 

The application of IFRS Accounting Standards 16 also involves a number of key estimates, including estimating the lease 

term, determining the appropriate rate to discount lease payments, and assessing whether a Right-of-use asset is impaired. 

 

ACCOUNTING CHANGES AND FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

 

Accounting Standard Implemented effective January 1, 2023 

 
(i) IAS 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies. In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation 

of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgments. The amendments to IAS 1 

require companies to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting 

policies. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality 

to accounting policy disclosures. The adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on Kruger 

Products’ financial statements. 

 

(ii) IAS 12, Global Implementation of Pillar Two.  In May 2023, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to IAS 

12 that provide a temporary exception from recognizing and disclosing deferred taxes arising from the 

implementation of the Pillar Two model rules and introduce targeted disclosure requirements for affected entities. 

The amendments are effective immediately and retrospectively, including the requirement to disclose that the 

exception has been applied. The ultimate parent of Kruger Products is resident in Canada and in August 2023, 

Canada released draft legislation in respect of certain aspects of Pillar Two for public consultation.  Although it is 

intended for Canada’s principal Pillar Two rules to take effect on January 1, 2024, Canada has yet to release any 

revised or further draft legislation.  Accordingly, Canada does not yet have any enacted or substantially enacted 

legislation in respect of Pillar Two. Kruger Products adopted the amendment to IAS 12 International Tax Reform—

Pillar Two Model Rules during the year ended December 31, 2023. This exception has been applied retrospectively 

but no adjustments to previously reported figures were required.  
 

Accounting Standard Issued but not yet Implemented 

(i) IAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current. In January 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to 

IAS 1 to clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at 

the end of the reporting period. In October 2022, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS1, Non-current Liabilities 
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with Covenants, to clarify how conditions with which an entity must comply within twelve months after the 

reporting period affect the classification of a liability. The 2022 amendments also introduce additional disclosure 

requirements to improve the information an entity provides when its right to defer settlement of a liability is subject 

to compliance with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period. The 2022 amendments changed the 

effective date of the 2020 amendments. The mandatory effective date would be annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The amended standard is expected to result in additional 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements for non-current liabilities arising from loan arrangements that 

are subject to covenants to be complied with within twelve months after the reporting period. 

 
SELECTED ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

The following table provides selected financial information for KPT and Kruger Products: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(C$ millions, unless otherwise stated) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

KPT Financial Information

Total assets 70.6                       81.7                       

Total liabilities 2.3                         7.7                         

Kruger Products Financial Information

Total assets 2,325.6                  2,256.8                  

Total liabilities 1,712.0                  1,763.6                  104.6
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

The following table summarizes quarterly financial results for Kruger Products for the last eight quarters: 

 

 
 

 

Results of Operations Q4 2023 compared to Q4 2022 

 

Revenue  

 

Revenue was $482.3 million in Q4 2023 compared to $458.1 million in Q4 2022, an increase of $24.2 million or 5.3%. 

The increase in revenue was primarily due to higher sales volume, partially offset by increased promotional spending 

compared to the prior year quarter. From a geographic perspective, revenue in Canada increased $12.5 million or 4.8%, 

while revenue in the U.S. increased $11.7 million, or 5.9%. 

 

Cost of Sales 

Cost of sales was $400.5 million in Q4 2023 compared to $416.4 million in Q4 2022, a decrease of $15.9 million or 

3.8%.  Manufacturing costs decreased due primarily to lower pulp and other input costs resulting from moderating inflation 

and productivity improvements in plant operations, which were only partially offset by higher volume. Freight costs were 

lower compared to Q4 2022 as supply constraints and inflation moderated, while warehousing costs increased as a result of 

additional logistics network costs. As a percentage of revenue, cost of sales was 83.0% in Q4 2023 compared to 90.9% in 

Q4 2022. 

 

 

 

________________________ 

1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this 

MD&A for more information on these measures. 

2023

(C$ millions, unless otherwise stated) Q 4 Q 3 Q 2 Q 1 Q 4 Q 3 Q 2 Q 1

Number of days in the period 92 92 91        90        92        92        91        90        0

Revenue 482.3   473.4   466.3   451.0   458.1   427.0   397.5   398.7   

Net income (loss) including 

     non-controlling interest 18.6     14.8     15.0     (50.1)   16.0     (38.8)   (35.5)   1.4       

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to                                                      

  Adjusted EBITDA
1

Net income (loss) including 

      non-controlling interest 18.6     14.8     15.0     (50.1)   16.0     (38.8)   (35.5)   1.4       

Interest expense and other finance costs 18.5     16.7     18.6     16.5     20.7     18.9     17.4     17.5     

Income tax expense (recovery) 2.6       7.1       5.1       58.6     1.8       (3.9)     (4.9)     (9.1)     

Depreciation and amortization 27.8     25.3     24.0     24.3     33.0     24.9     21.9     23.1     

Other income (expense) (8.5)      8.4       (8.9)     (0.4)     (5.3)     26.0     12.5     (4.3)     

Change in amortized cost of

Partnership units liability -       -       -      -      (25.6)   -      -      -      

Other expense -       -       -      -      0.1       -      -      -      

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 1.9       -       1.1       -      0.1       -      -      -      

Restructuring costs, net 0.3       0.1       0.1       1.1       3.6       0.1       0.4       0.5       

Consulting costs related to

operational transformation initiatives -       -       -      -      -      3.5       -      -      

Adjusted EBITDA
1 61.2     72.4     55.0     50.0     44.4     30.7     11.8     29.1     

2022



 

22 

 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses  

 

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses were $50.3 million in Q4 2023 compared to $30.6 million in Q4 

2022, an increase of $19.7 million or 64.4%. The increase was primarily due to significantly higher advertising and IT spend 

in the quarter, higher personnel and selling expenses to support additional sales volume, and a loss on disposal of fixed 

assets. As a percentage of revenue, SG&A expenses were 10.4% in Q4 2023 compared to 6.7% in Q4 2022. 

 

Restructuring Costs 

 

Restructuring costs were $0.3 million in Q4 2023 compared to $3.6 million in Q4 2022 due primarily to the shutdown 

of certain Memphis plant production assets as described in the Business Highlights section above. 

 

Adjusted EBITDA  

 

Adjusted EBITDA1 was $61.2 million in Q4 2023 compared to $44.4 million in Q4 2022, an increase of $16.8 million 

or 37.9%. The significant increase was primarily due to higher sales volume, lower pulp and other input costs, productivity 

improvements in plant operations and lower freight costs, partially offset by slightly lower selling prices, higher warehousing 

and SG&A expenses. 

 

Interest Expense and Other Finance Costs  

 

Interest expense and other finance costs were $18.5 million in Q4 2023 compared to $20.7 million in Q4 2022, a 

decrease of $2.2 million. The decrease was primarily due to higher interest income, lower pension interest expense, lower 

variable rate debt levels compared to Q4 2022, partially offset by higher lease interest expense. 

 

Foreign Exchange Gain 

 

Foreign exchange gain was $8.5 million in Q4 2023 compared to $5.3 million in Q4 2022 related to foreign exchange 

fluctuations on USD denominated debt. The foreign exchange gains were recorded in Other expense (income) in the 

consolidated statements of loss during Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022.  

 

Change in Amortized Cost of Partnership Units Liability 

 

Q4 2022 included a gain of $25.6 million resulting from the annual revaluation. The Partnership Units liability was 

extinguished on January 1, 2023, in connection with the Reorganization and as a result there was no annual revaluation 

required during Q4 2023. The change in amortized cost of Partnership units liability was recorded in Other expense (income) 

in the consolidated statement of loss during Fiscal 2022. 

 

Income Taxes  

 

An income tax expense of $2.6 million was recorded in Q4 2023 compared to $1.8 million in Q4 2022. Kruger Products 

Inc. is now directly taxable on its Canadian business as a result of the Reorganization on January 1, 2023, while it was 

operating as a limited partnership during Q4 2022 and not directly taxable on its Canadian business. Income tax in partner’s 

hands was a recovery of $5.9 million in Q4 2022.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this 

MD&A for more information on these measures. 
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Net Income (Loss) attributable to Kruger Products  

 

Net income was $16.5 million in Q4 2023 compared to $16.0 million in Q4 2022, an increase of $0.5 million. The 

increase was primarily due to higher Adjusted EBITDA1 of $16.8 million, lower depreciation and amortization expense of 

$5.4 million primarily related to the shutdown of certain Memphis plant production assets as described in the Business 

Highlights section above, lower restructuring costs of $3.3 million, higher foreign exchange gains of $3.2 million and lower 

interest expense of $2.2 million, partially offset by the change in the amortized cost of Partnership units liability of $25.6 

million in Q4 2022, a loss on sale of fixed assets of $1.9 million, higher income tax expense of $0.8 million and a loss from 

non-controlling interest of $2.0 million. 

 

Segment Information Q4 2023 compared to Q4 2022 

 
 

 
 

Consumer Segment 

 

Q4 2023 compared to Q4 2022 

 

Consumer segment revenue was $400.9 million in Q4 2023 compared to $378.8 million in Q4 2022, an increase of 

$22.1 million or 5.8%. The increase in revenue was due to higher sales volume, partially offset by increased promotional 

spending. Consumer segment revenue increased in the U.S. and Canada. 

 

Consumer Segment Adjusted EBITDA1 was $59.8 million in Q4 2023 compared to $42.7 million in Q4 2022, an 

increase of $17.1 million. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA1 was primarily due to the increase in Consumer segment 

revenue along with lower manufacturing costs, partially offset by higher warehousing and SG&A expenses. 

 

AFH Segment 

 

Q4 2023 compared to Q4 2022 

 

AFH segment revenue was $81.4 million in Q4 2023 compared to $79.3 million in Q4 2022, an increase of $2.1 million 

or 2.6%. The increase was primarily due to higher sales volume, partially offset by lower pricing. AFH segment revenue 

increased in the U.S. and Canada.  

 

AFH Segment Adjusted EBITDA1 was $5.7 million in Q4 2023 compared to $5.7 million in Q4 2022. The favourable 

revenue impact and lower manufacturing and freight costs were essentially offset by higher warehousing and SG&A 

expenses.  

 
1 Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this 

MD&A for more information on these measures. 

 

(C$ millions,

unless otherwise noted) Q4 2023 Q4 2022 $ Change % Change

Segment Revenue

Consumer 400.9              378.8              22.1                5.8%

AFH 81.4                79.3                2.1                  2.6%

Total segment revenue 482.3              458.1              24.2                5.3%

Adjusted EBITDA
1

Consumer 59.8                42.7                17.1                

AFH 5.7                  5.7                  -                      

Corporate and other costs (4.3)                 (4.0)                 (0.3)                 

Total Adjusted EBITDA1 61.2                44.4                16.8                

Q4 2023 vs. Q4 2022
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Corporate and Other Costs 

 
Corporate and other costs include certain management overhead costs not directly attributable to the business segments. 

 

Q4 2023 compared to Q4 2022 

 

Corporate and other costs were $4.3 million in Q4 2023 compared to $4.0 million in Q4 2022, an increase of $0.3 

million resulting primarily from lower foreign exchange gains related to working capital compared to the year ago quarter. 

 

SHARE INFORMATION 

 

KPT’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of KPT Common Shares. As of March 7, 2024, there 

were 9,968,337 KPT Common Shares issued and outstanding. Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, Kruger Inc. has the 

right to exchange Kruger Products Common Shares it holds from time to time for KPT Common Shares on the basis of one 

Kruger Products common share for one KPT Common Share, subject to adjustment as set out in the Exchange Agreement. 

Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of January 1, 2023, Kruger Products transferred its rights under the 

Exchange Agreement to Kruger Products, in connection with the Reorganization (refer to Business Highlights, Corporate 

Reorganization for additional details). Accordingly, if Kruger Inc. were to exchange all Kruger Products Common Shares 

held by it as of March 7, 2024 for KPT Common Shares, it would hold approximately 87.1% of the issued and outstanding 

KPT Common Shares. As of March 7, 2024, there were no potentially dilutive instruments outstanding.  

 

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement, Kruger Products is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common 

shares and an unlimited number of Kruger Products Common Shares. As of March 7, 2024, there were 77,299,546 Kruger 

Products Common Shares issued and outstanding.  

 

RISK FACTORS 

 

For a detailed description of risk factors associated with KPT and Kruger Products, refer to the “Risk Factors” section 

of the 2023 Annual Information Form dated March 7, 2024 available on SEDAR+ at www.sedarplus.ca. Kruger Products 

Management is not aware of any significant changes to the risk factors associated with KPT and Kruger Products from those 

disclosed at that time.   

 

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 

Disclosure controls and procedures within KPT and Kruger Products (collectively, the Corporations) have been 

designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is identified to its Chief Executive Officer (CEO), its 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and its Disclosure Policy Committee to ensure appropriate and timely decisions are made 

regarding public disclosure. 

Internal controls over financial reporting have been designed by Management, under the supervision of, and with the 

participation of the Corporations’ CEO and CFO, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the 

Corporations’ financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS 

Accounting Standards. 

 

The Corporations will file certifications, signed by the Corporations’ CEO and CFO, with the Canadian Securities 

Administrators (CSA) upon filing of the Corporations’ Annual Information Form. In those filings, the Corporations’ CEO 

and CFO will certify, as required by National Instrument 52-109, the appropriateness of the financial disclosure, the design 

and effectiveness of the Corporations’ disclosure controls and procedures and the design and effectiveness of internal 

controls over financial reporting. The Corporations’ CEO and CFO also certify the appropriateness of the financial 

disclosures in the Corporations’ interim filings with securities regulators. In those interim filings, the Corporations’ CEO 

and CFO also certify the design of the Corporations’ disclosure controls and procedures and the design of internal controls 

over financial reporting. 
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The Corporations’ Audit Committees reviewed this MD&A and the financial statements and notes of KPT and the 

consolidated financial statements and notes of Kruger Products, and the Corporations’ Boards of Directors approved these 

documents prior to their release. 

 

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting  

 

There have been no changes to the Corporations’ internal controls over financial reporting during Fiscal 2023 that have 

materially affected, or are reasonably expected to materially affect, its internal controls over financial reporting. 

 

Management's Report on Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

 

Management, under the supervision of and with the participation of the Corporations’ CEO and CFO, evaluated the 

effectiveness of the Corporations’ disclosure controls and procedures (as defined under National Instrument 52-109) and 

concluded, as of December 31, 2023, that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective. 

 

Management's Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

 
Management, under the supervision of and with the participation of the Corporations’ CEO and CFO, evaluated the 

effectiveness of the Corporations’ internal controls over financial reporting (as defined under National Instrument 52-109). 

In making this evaluation, Management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commissions (COSO) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013). Based on that evaluation, Management 

and the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, the Corporations’ internal controls over financial 

reporting were effective. This evaluation took into consideration the Corporations’ Corporate Disclosure Policy and the 

functioning of its Disclosure Policy Committee. 

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 

Additional information relating to KPT and Kruger Products, including the Annual Information Form, is available on 

SEDAR+ at www.sedarplus.ca.   

 

http://www.sedarplus.c/
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“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Shareholders of KP Tissue Inc. 

Our opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of KP Tissue Inc. (the Corporation) as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting 
Standards). 

What we have audited 
The Corporation’s financial statements comprise: 

 the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2023 and 2022; 

 the statements of loss and comprehensive income for the years then ended; 

 the statements of changes in equity for the years then ended; 

 the statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other 
explanatory information. 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 



Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment indicator assessment on the equity 
accounted investment in Kruger Products Inc.

Refer to note 1 – General information, note 3 –
Summary of significant accounting policies, note 4 
– Critical accounting estimates and judgments, 
note 5 – Investment in associate, and note 9 –
Economic dependence to the financial statements.

The Corporation was created to acquire, and its 
business is limited to holding, an interest in Kruger 
Products Inc. (KPI), which is accounted for as an 
investment in an associate using the equity method 
of accounting. As at December 31, 2023, the 
Corporation held a 13.1% interest in KPI and the 
carrying amount of the Corporation’s equity 
accounted investment in KPI amounted to $68.2 
million. Management assesses at each reporting 
period whether there is any objective evidence that 
indicates an impairment related to the investment in 
KPI. Management applies judgment when 
assessing whether there is any objective evidence 
that would require an impairment test to be 
performed, including whether (i) KPI has 
recognized impairment losses in its financial 
results; (ii) the recoverable amounts of KPI’s cash 
generating units tested for impairment have 
declined below the carrying amount of the 
Corporation’s basis in KPI’s assets included in the 
investment in KPI after taking into account the fair 
value increment for identifiable assets recorded on 
acquisition of interests in KPI; or (iii) there is a 
significant decline in the market capitalization of the 
Corporation compared to its net assets. 
Management did not perform an impairment test as 

Our approach to addressing the matter included the 
following procedures, among others: 

 Evaluated the reasonableness of 
management’s impairment indicator 
assessment on the equity accounted 
investment in KPI by: 

- Performing an audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of KPI as at  
December 31, 2023. This included: 

o considering the financial performance 
of KPI and the impact of recognized 
impairment losses, if any, in the 
consolidated financial statements of 
KPI on the carrying amount of the 
Corporation’s investment in KPI; 

o comparing the recoverable amounts of 
KPI’s cash generating units tested for 
impairment to the carrying amount of 
the Corporation’s basis in KPI’s assets 
included in the investment in KPI after 
taking into account the fair value 
increment for identifiable assets 
recorded on acquisition of interests in 
KPI; and 

o evaluating the completeness of 
management’s impairment indicator 
assessment of whether there was any 
other objective evidence that indicates 
an impairment related to the 
investment in KPI. 



Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

at December 31, 2023, as there was no objective 
evidence that indicated that an impairment test was 
required. 

We considered this a key audit matter due to the 
significance of the equity accounted investment in 
KPI’s carrying amount and the judgment applied by 
management when assessing whether there was 
any objective evidence that would require an 
impairment test to be performed. This resulted in a 
high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity and 
effort in performing procedures and evaluating 
audit evidence related to management’s 
impairment indicator assessment. 

- Recalculating and comparing the 
Corporation’s market capitalization to its 
net assets as at December 31, 2023. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 



In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Corporation’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Corporation or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Corporation to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Corporation to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is John Donnelly. 

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario 
March 7, 2024 
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December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

$ $

Assets

Current assets

Dividends receivable 1,793                        -                            

Distributions receivable -                            1,790                        

Income taxes recoverable 652                           580                           

2,445                        2,370                        

Non-current assets

Investment in associate (note 5) 68,162                      79,338                      

Total assets 70,607                      81,708                      

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Dividend payable (note 7) 1,793                        1,790                        

Payable to investee 457                           170                           

2,250                        1,960                        

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income taxes (note 6) -                            5,718                        

Total liabilities 2,250                        7,678                        

Equity

Common shares (note 7) 22,560                      22,379                      

Contributed surplus 144,819                    144,819                    

Deficit (115,027)                   (108,008)                   

Accumulated other comprehensive income 16,005                      14,840                      

Total equity 68,357                      74,030                      

Total liabilities and equity 70,607                      81,708                      

Subsequent event (note 7)

Approved by the Board of Directors

/s/ James Hardy                                       /s/ Jay Wright                                         

Director Director
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2023 2022

$ $

   Share of loss (697)                         (8,086)                      

   Depreciation of fair value increments (1,165)                      (5,213)                      

Equity loss (1,862)                      (13,299)                    

   Dilution gain (note 7) 1,032                        752                          

Loss before income taxes (830)                         (12,547)                    

   Current tax expense (recovery) 215                           (410)                         

   Deferred tax expense (recovery) 3,892                        (1,888)                      

Income tax expense (recovery) (note 6) 4,107                        (2,298)                      

Net loss (4,937)                      (10,249)                    

Other comprehensive income 

net of income tax expense (recovery) (note 8)

   Items that will not be 

     reclassified to net income (loss):

   Remeasurements of pensions 3,436                        11,493                     

   Remeasurements of post-retirement

     benefits 1,650                        1,470                       

   Items that may be subsequently

     reclassified to net income (loss):

   Cumulative translation adjustment 1,165                        2,073                       

Other comprehensive income 6,251                        15,036                     

Total comprehensive income 1,314                        4,787                       

Basic loss per share (0.50)                        (1.03)                        

Weighted average number of shares 

     outstanding 9,955,981                 9,936,187                
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Contributed

surplus Deficit

Accumulated

other

comprehensive

income 

Total 

equity

# $ $ $ $ $

As of January 1, 2022 9,895,419 21,844 144,819        (103,561)  12,767              75,869        

Issuance of common shares (note 7) 50,557      529      -                    -               -                        529             

Dividends payable (note 7) -                -           -                    (1,790)      -                        (1,790)         

Dividends paid -                -           -                    (5,365)      -                        (5,365)         

Fair value adjustment -                6          -                    (6)             -                        -                  

Remeasurements of pensions -                -           -                    11,493      -                        11,493        

Remeasurements of 

     post-retirement benefits -                -           -                    1,470        -                        1,470          

Cumulative translation adjustment -                -           -                    -               2,073                2,073          

Net loss -                -           -                    (10,249)    -                        (10,249)       

As of December 31, 2022 9,945,976 22,379 144,819        (108,008)  14,840              74,030        

As of January 1, 2023 9,945,976 22,379 144,819        (108,008)  14,840              74,030        

Issuance of common shares (note 7) 17,746      181      -                    -               -                        181             

Dividends payable (note 7) -                -           -                    (1,793)      -                        (1,793)         

Dividends paid -                -           -                    (5,375)      -                        (5,375)         

Remeasurements of pensions -                -           -                    3,436        -                        3,436          

Remeasurements of 

     post-retirement benefits -                -           -                    1,650        -                        1,650          

Cumulative translation adjustment -                -           -                    -               1,165                1,165          

Net loss -                -           -                    (4,937)      -                        (4,937)         

As of December 31, 2023 9,963,722 22,560 144,819        (115,027)  16,005              68,357        

Common shares
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2023 2022

$ $

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities

Net loss (4,937)                       (10,249)                     

Items not affecting cash

Equity loss 1,862                        13,299                      

Dilution gain (note 7) (1,032)                       (752)                          

Income tax expense (recovery) (note 6) 4,107                        (2,298)                       

Total items not affecting cash 4,937                        10,249                      

Net change in non-cash working capital (note 10) 287                           (76)                            

Tax  refunds (payments), net (287)                          38                             

Tax Distribution received, net -                                38                             

Net cash from (used in) operating activities -                                -                                

Cash flows from investing activites

Dividends received, net 6,984                        -                                

Partnership unit distributions received, net -                                6,617                        

Net cash from investing activities 6,984                        6,617                        

Cash flows used in financing activities 

Dividends paid, net (note 7) (6,984)                       (6,617)                       

Net cash used in financing activities (6,984)                       (6,617)                       

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year -                                -                                

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year -                                -                                

Cash and cash equivalents - End of year -                                -                                
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1 General information 

 

KP Tissue Inc. (KPT or the Corporation) was incorporated by articles of incorporation under the Canadian Business 

Corporations Act on October 1, 2012. As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation held a 13.1% interest in Kruger 

Products Inc. (Kruger Products). As of December 31, 2022, the Corporation held a 13.9% interest in Kruger Products 

L.P. (KPLP or the Partnership).  

 

On January 1, 2023, KPLP undertook a corporate reorganization (the Kruger Products Reorganization) pursuant to which 

KPLP sold and assigned to its wholly-owned subsidiary, Kruger Products, and Kruger Products purchased and assumed 

from KPLP, in exchange for common shares, all of the properties, operations, assets and liabilities of KPLP, and KPLP 

was subsequently dissolved and wound-up into its partners. As a result of the Kruger Products Reorganization, Kruger 

Products, as the successor corporate entity to KPLP, now operates the business previously operated by KPLP. 

 

Kruger Products’ principal business is to produce, distribute, market and sell a wide range of disposable tissue products, 

including bathroom tissue, facial tissue, paper towels and napkins for both the consumer and away-from-home markets 

in North America. The Corporation’s headquarters are located in Mississauga, Ontario, Canada. 

 

2 Basis of presentation 

 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards), and with interpretations of the 

International Financial Reporting Committee which the Canadian Accounting Standards Board has approved for 

incorporation into Part 1 of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting. The financial statements have been prepared using 

the historical cost convention.  

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on March 6, 2024. 

 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

 

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements were as follows: 

 

(a) Investments in associates 

 

Associates are entities over which the Corporation has significant influence but not control. The Corporation 

accounts for its investment in associates using the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment is 

initially recognized at cost and the carrying amount is adjusted for the Corporation’s share of profits or losses of 

associates recognized in the statement of comprehensive income (loss) and its share of other comprehensive income 

(loss) of associates included in other comprehensive income (loss). 

 

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Corporation and an associate are eliminated to the extent of the 

Corporation’s interest in the associate. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 

evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Dilution gains and losses arising from changes in interests in 

investments in associates are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income (loss). 

 

The Corporation assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that its interests in 

investments in associates are impaired. In the event of impairment, the carrying value of the Corporation’s share 

of the underlying assets of associates is written down to its net recoverable amount (being the higher of fair value, 

less cost to sell and value in use) and the loss is charged to the statement of comprehensive income (loss). The 

Corporation also assesses at each reporting date the possible reversal of the impairment. 
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(b) Income tax 

 

As a result of the Kruger Products Reorganization (note 1),  KPLP’s tax status changed from a limited partnership 

to a corporation. Kruger Products is, therefore, a tax paying entity and will recognize income tax provisions directly. 

KPT no longer incurs taxable income and therefore the Deferred tax liability of $5.7 million recorded in KPT’s 

audited statement of financial position as of December 31, 2022 has been derecognized in the audited statement of 

loss and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

 

(c) Share capital 

 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. 

 

(d) Earnings per share 

 

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the period attributable to equity 

owners of the Corporation by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. 

 

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for dilutive 

instruments. The number of shares included with respect to options, warrants and similar instruments is computed 

using the treasury stock method. The Corporation does not currently have any potentially dilutive instruments. 

 

(e) Accounting standard implemented effective January 1, 2023 

 

IAS 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies. In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation 

of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgments. The amendments to IAS 1 

require companies to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting 

policies. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide guidance on how to apply the concept of 

materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on 

the Corporation’s financial statements. 

 

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 

disclosure of contingencies at the dates of the statement of financial position, and the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the reporting period. On a regular basis and with the information available, management reviews its 

estimates and judgements, including those related to fair value and the basis of accounting. Actual results could differ 

from those estimates. When adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they 

occur.  

 

Equity method of accounting 

 

The equity method of accounting is being applied by the Corporation as it relates to its investment in Kruger Products. 

The conclusion to account for an investment using the equity method, particularly when the percentage of ownership is 

below 20%, is based on an assessment of several facts and circumstances and ultimately requires significant judgment 

in reaching a conclusion. Management has reviewed the agreements and made an assessment of the rights of the 

Corporation. Based on the Corporation having four of ten seats on the board of directors of KPGP Inc. (KPGP), 

management has concluded that the Corporation has the ability to exercise significant influence over Kruger Products.   
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Impairment test  

 

The Corporation is required to perform an impairment test on its investment in Kruger Products if there is objective 

evidence that indicates that the investment may be impaired. Management applies judgment when assessing whether 

there is any objective evidence that would require an impairment test to be performed, including whether (i) Kruger 

Products has recognized impairment losses in its financial results; or (ii) the recoverable amounts of Kruger Products’ 

cash generating units tested for impairment have declined below the carrying amount of the Corporation’s basis in 

Kruger Products’ assets included in the investment in Kruger Products after taking into account the fair value increment 

for identifiable assets recorded on acquisition of interests in Kruger Products; or (iii) there is a significant decline in the 

market capitalization of the Corporation compared to its net assets. During the year ended December 31, 2023, 

management considered the impact of various events on the Corporation’s assessment of whether there was objective 

evidence that its investment in Kruger Products may be impaired.  Management concluded the future forecasts that 

support the investment value had not changed significantly and as a result no triggering event had occurred requiring an 

impairment test to be performed.  

Partnership units 

 

On December 13, 2012, in connection with the issuance of Partnership units to KPT, the Limited Partnership Agreement 

was amended to require KPLP, subject to compliance with contractual obligations and applicable law, to make 

distributions to its partners in such amounts as would enable KPT to discharge its obligation to pay federal and provincial 

income taxes (the Tax Distribution). Each partner was entitled to its share of the Tax Distribution made in respect of any 

given year. 

 

As a result of the Kruger Products Reorganization (note 1), the Limited Partnership Agreement was dissolved and the 

corresponding requirement to make the Tax Distribution was eliminated. As a result, there was no Tax Distribution 

declared on February 28, 2023. 

 

5 Investment in associate  

 

Changes in the carrying amount of the investment were as follows: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 2022

$ $

Opening balance 79,338                      78,727                      

Increase in investment 181                           529                           

Share of loss (697)                          (8,086)                       

Depreciation of fair value increments (1,165)                       (5,213)                       

Share of other comprehensive income (loss) (3,359)                       21,836                      

Dilution gain 1,032                        752                           

Tax Distribution -                                (2,052)                       

Dividends (7,168)                       -                                

Partnership unit distributions -                                (7,155)                       

Closing balance 68,162                      79,338                      
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The following summarizes financial information about the assets, liabilities, revenue and net loss of Kruger Products, in 

which the Corporation holds a 13.1% interest as of December 31, 2023. The financial information was derived from the 

audited consolidated financial statements of Kruger Products for the year ended December 31, 2023. The assets and 

liabilities disclosed include the fair value adjustments made to the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the 

associate on its acquisition.  

 

 
 

The following summarizes financial information about the assets, liabilities, revenue and net loss of KPLP, in which the 

Corporation held a 13.9% interest as of December 31, 2022. The financial information was derived from the audited 

consolidated financial statements of KPLP for the year ended December 31, 2022. The assets and liabilities disclosed 

include the fair value adjustments made to the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the associate on its 

acquisition.  

 

 
 

Kruger Products 

basis of accounting Fair value increment

KPT basis of 

accounting

$ $ $

Current assets 542,854                      -                                  542,854                      

Non-current assets 1,782,776                   307,973                      2,090,749                   

Liabilities to non-equityholders 1,712,003                   -                                  1,712,003                   

Net assets 613,627                      

 Year ended 

December 31, 2023

 $ 

Revenue 1,872,962                   

Net loss attributable to Kruger Products (5,313)                         

Other comprehensive loss (22,996)                       

Total comprehensive losss

   attributable to Kruger Products (28,309)                       

December 31, 2023

KPLP basis of 

accounting Fair value increment

KPT basis of 

accounting

$ $ $-                                  

Current assets 491,822                      -                                  491,822                      

Non-current assets 1,764,946                   317,605                      2,082,551                   

Liabilities to non-unitholders 1,630,046                   -                                  1,630,046                   

Partnership units liability 133,551                      -                                  133,551                      

Net assets 493,171                      

 Year ended 

December 31, 2022

 $ 

Revenue 1,681,403                   

Net loss (56,882)                       

Other comprehensive income 151,707                      

Total comprehensive income 

   attributable to Kruger Products 94,825                        

December 31, 2022
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The following shows the reconciliation of KPT’s portion of Kruger Products equity to the investment recorded in KPT: 

 

 
 
(a) As a result of the Kruger Products Reorganization, KPLP’s Partnership unit liability was extinguished as KPLP’s Partnership 

Agreement was terminated in accordance with its terms and KPLP’s corresponding requirement to make the Tax Distribution 

was eliminated.  

 

With respect to KPT’s investment in Kruger Products, the liability of KPT for the debts, liabilities and other obligations 

of Kruger Products is limited to KPT’s capital contribution to Kruger Products. 

 

6 Income taxes 

 

As a result of the Kruger Products Reorganization (note 1),  KPLP’s tax status chnaged from a limited partnership to a 

corporation. Kruger Products is, therefore, a tax paying entity and will recognize income tax provisions directly. KPT 

no longer incurs taxable income and therefore the Deferred tax liability of $5.7 million recorded in KPT’s audited 

statement of financial position as of December 31, 2022 has been derecognized in the audited statement of loss and 

comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2023, as Deferred tax expense of $3.9 million and through 

Other comprehensive income (OCI) remeasurement of pension of $6.9 million Deferred tax recovery, OCI 

remeasurement of post retirement benefits of $0.5 million Deferred tax recovery and OCI cumulative translation 

adjustment of $2.2 million Deferred tax recovery. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

$ $

Kruger Products consolidated equity 613,627                    493,171                    

Add back: Inception value of Partnership units liability 
(a)

118,562                    118,562                    

Less:  Equity pertaining to Kruger Inc. and KPGP (585,120)                   (453,961)                   

Equity pertaining to KPT 147,069                    157,772                    

Investment in associate recorded in KPT 68,162                      79,338                      

Reconciling difference 78,907                      78,434                      

Reconciling items since inception:

Equity issuance costs (11,110)                     (11,110)                     

Depreciation of fair value increments 60,336                      59,171                      

Currency translation adjustment in fair value increments (2,962)                       (3,302)                       

Tax Distribution 9,320                        9,320                        

Gain on exercise of overallotment option (375)                          (375)                          

Dilution gain (4,302)                       (3,270)                       

Impairment in investment in associate 28,000                      28,000                      

-                            -                            
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Details of the provision for income taxes were as follows: 

 
 

Components of the deferred income tax liability were as follows: 

 

 
The analysis of the deferred tax liability was as follows: 

 

 
 

 

The movement in the deferred tax liability was as follows: 

 
 

 

 

2023 2022

$ $

Income tax at statutory rate of 26% (216)                          (3,264)                       

Derecognition of deferred tax 3,892                        -                            

Permanent differences and other -                            174                           

Dilution gain (268)                          (195)                          

Taxed in hands of subsidiaries -                            2,345                        

Realization of previously unrecognized tax attributes 518                           1,480                        

Accounting equity pick-up 181                           -                            

Change in basis of investment in associate -                            (2,838)                       

 4,107                        (2,298)                       

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

$ $

Deferred tax liability (asset)

     ROU assets and lease liabilities -                            (592)                          

     Pensions -                            3,078                        

     Partnership units liability -                            (2,782)                       

     Property, plant and equipment -                            6,737                        

     Other -                            (723)                          

-                            5,718                        

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

$ $

Deferred tax liabilities to be realized greater than 12 months -                            5,718                        

2023 2022

$ $

Opening balance 5,718                        806                           

     Charge to net income (loss) 3,892                        (1,888)                      

     Charge to other comprehensive income (loss)

          - remeasurements of cumulative translation adjustment (2,232)                       310                           

     Charge to other comprehensive income (loss)

          - remeasurements of post-retirement benefits (482)                          629                           

     Charge to other comprehensive income (loss)

          - remeasurements of pensions (6,896)                       5,861                        

Closing balance -                            5,718                        
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7 Dividends  

 

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Corporation paid a quarterly dividend of $0.18 

per share to shareholders.  Pursuant to the Corporation Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP), a portion of the dividend 

was reinvested by the shareholders, resulting in the Corporation issuing common shares. The proceeds were used to 

acquire additional shares of Kruger Products in 2023 and additional units of KPLP in 2022. The dividends paid, the 

additional common shares issued at the share price, and the gross proceeds were as follows:  

  

 
 

Subsequent to December 31, 2023, on January 15, 2024, the Corporation paid a dividend of $1.8 million to shareholders 

at $0.18 per common share.  Pursuant to the Corporation DRIP, a portion of the dividend was reinvested by the 

shareholders, resulting in the Corporation issuing 4,615 common shares at a price of $8.99. 

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2023, the Corporation declared a dividend of $0.18 per common share to shareholders, 

payable on April 15, 2024.   

 

As a result of the DRIP and Kruger Inc.’s reinvestment of its dividends from Kruger Products in common shares of 

Kruger Products, a dilution gain of $1.0 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022 - $0.8 

million). 

 

2023

Issuance of

 Dividends paid Share price Common shares Gross proceeds

Dividend Payment Date $ $ # $

January 16, 2023 1,790                     10.18                     4,682                     48                          

April 17, 2023 1,791                     10.25                     3,000                     30                          

July 17, 2023 1,791                     10.30                     5,064                     53                          

October 16, 2023 1,793                     9.93                       5,000                     50                          

7,165                     17,746                   181                        

2022

Issuance of

 Dividends paid Share price Common shares Gross proceeds

Dividend Payment Date $ $ # $

January 17, 2022 1,781                     10.50                     36,007                   378                        

April 15, 2022 1,788                     10.81                     4,351                     47                          

July 15, 2022 1,788                     10.26                     4,426                     46                          

October 17, 2022 1,789                     10.26                     5,773                     58                          

7,146                     50,557                   529                        
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8 Income tax expense (recovery) on other comprehensive income  

 

9 Economic dependence 

 

The Corporation was created to acquire, and its business is limited to holding, a limited equity interest in Kruger 

Products, which is accounted for as an investment in an associate using the equity method of accounting. As such, the 

Corporation is economically dependent on Kruger Products and exposed to all the risks associated with the business of 

Kruger Products, including, but not limited to, liquidity risk. 

 

10 Non-cash working capital 

 

The change in non-cash working capital on the statements of cash flows comprised the following: 

 

 

 

2023 2022

$ $

Items that will not be reclassified to net income (loss):

Remeasurements of pensions (3,460)                       17,354                      

Income tax recovery (expense) 6,896                        (5,861)                       

Net of income tax recovery (expense) 3,436                        11,493                      

Remeasurements of post-retirement benefits 1,168                        2,099                        

Income tax recovery (expense) 482                           (629)                          

Net of income tax recovery (expense) 1,650                        1,470                        

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to net income (loss):

Cumulative translation adjustment (1,067)                       2,383                        

Income tax recovery (expense) 2,232                        (310)                          

Net of income tax recovery (expense) 1,165                        2,073                        

Total other comprehensive income for the year 6,251                        15,036                      

2023 2022

$ $

Increase (decrease) in payable to investee 287                           (76)                           
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François Vimard (Chair and Independent Director) (1) (2) (3)

James Hardy (Independent Director) (1) (2) (3)

John (‘Jay’) Wright (Independent Director) (1) (3) (4)

(1)	 Member of the Corporation Audit Committee and the KPGP Audit Committee
(2)	 Member of the Corporation Nominating and Governance Committee
(3)	 Member of the KPGP Governance Committee
(4)	 Member of the KPGP HR & Compensation Committee

Sarah Kruger was appointed to the Board of Directors on 
March 7, 2024, following Ms. Denys-Wendling’s announcement  
of her retirement.

For complete information about Board Members and Corporate 
Governance, please visit www.kptissueinc.com

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held in a virtual-only 
format which will be conducted via live webcast online at: 
https://virtual-meetings.tsxtrust.com/en/1657
June 11, 2024 at 2:00 p.m. (EDT).
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TO BE THE MOST TRUSTED AND BEST LOVED  
TISSUE COMPANY IN NORTH AMERICA.

MAKING EVERYDAY LIFE MORE COMFORTABLE.

®Registered trademarks and TM trademarks of Kruger Products Inc. ©2024 Kruger Products Inc.

®’SCOTTIES is a trademark of Kimberly-Clark Worldwide Inc., used under licence.

OUR VISION

OUR MISSION


	KP Tissue Inc. Q4 2023  Financial Statements vFINAL - English.pdf
	KP Tissue Inc. (2023) Opinion - SEDAR.pdf (p.1-5)
	KP Tissue Inc. Q4 2023  Financial Statements vFINAL - English.pdf (p.6-18)




